

DEAR STOCKHOLDERS
iPass has entered 2015 as a year of change with new leadership, new energy and renewed focus
to accelerate growth, achieve profitability and drive shareholder value. In February, the board
appointed me as CEO, with an immediate task to reach the necessary revenue scale to achieve
profitability while efficiently managing expenses. Within 60 days of my appointment, we
developed a new go-to-market strategy, increased our addressable market, simplified our
application, and restructured the organization to materially reduce operating expenses.
The growth of our core business in 2014 reaffirmed the broad opportunity and potential for
meaningful growth ahead, and we confirmed our belief that our customers want an always-on,
unlimited and ubiquitous connection experience. In short, we are driving iPass to be
UMLIMITED, EVERYWHERE and INVISIBLE.
We launched iPass UNLIMITED, a go-to-market plan that provides our customers unlimited
WiFi usage for a fixed monthly per-user subscription, which we believe will drive higher
adoption, leading to higher revenue for iPass. It expands our addressable market by targeting the
typical users of our service: the sales and marketing teams, and more importantly is aimed at
small and medium sized businesses, while still appealing to large enterprise customers.
UNLIMITED also includes an option for a fixed monthly price for GoGo in-flight WiFi, the
fastest growing segment of our business.
iPass EVERYWHERE has the objective of growing our user base as well as expanding our
global network of Wi-Fi hotspots. Exciting partnerships with companies like HP, Microsoft and
Huawei extend our services to a new consumer market in which we’ve not participated – till
now. And continued efforts to expand the number of WiFi connection points are making our
network more available and useful than ever before. As of March 2015, we had nearly 19
million hot spots in over 100 countries around the world, and we continue to add more each
month.
iPass INVISIBLE defines a hands-off user experience consistent with the new markets we are
targeting, as we design our application to be increasingly neither seen nor heard – but always
working behind the scenes, without fanfare or customer intervention. Since we are now

UNLIMITED, we will be always-on, constantly searching for WiFi networks and automatically
connecting. INVISIBLE is all about making it easy for the user – no more too-easily-forgotten
passwords or complicated installation and authentication procedures. And most importantly,
INVISIBLE means security: a stealth cloak that protects our customers from the untamed world
of public WiFi, which quickly teaches the unwary that “Free WiFi” can, in fact, be very
expensive.
With the improved marketing and product offering, we believe we can accelerate revenue
growth. We also took action to reduce the time to profitability. In May of 2015, we
implemented an operating expense-reduction plan to reduce the revenue needed to break-even,
while cost effectively supporting revenue growth. This restructuring is focused on reducing
management layers, resulting in the elimination of executive positions, as well as the elimination
of other staff that cannot be justified and is not required in a lean, SaaS-based organization.
We believe our actions, taken collectively, will establish a solid foundation for revenue growth,
profitability and, ultimately, enhancing shareholder value. In a world in which most everyone
wants to be connected most all the time, coupled with an exponentially growing number of
intelligent devices that require connectivity, the value of iPass increases with the growth of our
network and the number of users it attracts. I want to ensure that shareholder returns are closely
in-line with this growth.
Thank you for your continued support. I look forward to a successful 2015.

GARY GRIFFITHS
President and CEO
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Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements regarding expected future
events and future results that are based on current expectations, estimates, forecasts, and projections about the
industries in which we operate and the beliefs and assumptions of our management. Words such as “expects,”
“will,” “anticipates,” “targets,” “goals,” “projects,” "projections'" “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “estimates,”
“potential,” variations of such words, and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements. In addition, any statements which refer to projections of our future financial performance, our
anticipated growth and trends in our business, and other characterizations of future events or circumstances, are
forward-looking statements. Readers are cautioned that these forward-looking statements are only predictions
and are subject to risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual results may
differ materially and adversely from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. Readers are directed to
risks and uncertainties identified below, under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere herein, for factors that
may cause actual results to be different from those expressed in these forward-looking statements. Any forwardlooking statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made, and except as required by law, we undertake
no obligation to revise or update publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason.
Investors and others should note that we announce material financial information to our investors
using our investor relations website, SEC filings, press releases, public conference calls and webcasts. We also
use social media to communicate with our customers and the public about our company, our products and
services and other matters relating to our business and market. It is possible that the information we post on
social media could be deemed to be material information. Therefore, we encourage investors, the media, and
others interested in our company to review the information we post on the U.S. social media channels including
the iPass Twitter Feed, the iPass LinkedIn Feed, the iPass Google+ Feed, the iPass Facebook Page, the iPass
Blog, the iPass Instagram account, and the iPass Pinterest account. These social media channels may be updated
from time to time.
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PART I
Item 1.

Business

Overview
iPass enables business travelers to stay connected by providing them with cost-effective and
convenient global Wi-Fi access across smartphones, tablets and laptops. Founded in 1996, iPass (NASDAQ:
IPAS) is the world's largest commercial Wi-Fi network, covering over 120 countries and territories and selling
to over 700 large corporations, telecom service providers and other strategic partners around the world. Through
its cloud-based delivery model, iPass connects business travelers to over 18 million Wi-Fi hotspots in airports,
airplanes, hotels and public areas. With the growing need for fast, high bandwidth connectivity, iPass lets
business travelers stay close to what matters most while on the road including access to video, unified
communications, web conferencing and other cloud based applications.
Business Highlights
Strategic Mobility Assets
We believe iPass has a unique set of mobility assets that provide us with competitive advantages.
We see our three core assets as follows:
Open Mobile Platform: Our Open Mobile (OM) platform is a cloud-based mobility
management platform that securely manages network connectivity and subscribers across a wide
variety of computing and mobile devices and provider networks. We believe this scalable
subscriber management, billing and reporting platform is unique in the industry and would be
time consuming and expensive to replicate. Our Open Mobile platform has the following key
characteristics and functionality:
•
An always-on, lightweight software agent that runs on a wide array of devices
including smartphones, tablets, and laptops running operating systems including
Android, the Apple (iOS), Windows and Macintosh.
•
A cloud-based platform that allows businesses to configure and manage its
mobility offering by providing in-depth reporting and analytics on mobile usage
across the networks and devices used by the employees.
•
Policy enforcement services that enable our customers to have their costs,
compliance and security measures enforced across their mobile workforce.
•

We exited 2014 with 814,000 active monthly users on our OM platform.

Integrated Authentication Fabric: We have a global authentication fabric of integrated servers
and software that is interconnected with over 150 unique global Wi-Fi networks. This
infrastructure allows us to provide secure, highly-available and seamless four-party global
authentication, clearing and settlement of Wi-Fi users for our partners and customers. Our
technology architecture is designed to:
•
Integrate with existing enterprise security, directory, and business systems.
•
Integrate with any Wi-Fi network, whether customer-owned networks or thirdparty provider networks.
•
Embrace new access methods, devices, and applications.
•
Support scalable unique users (1.3 million in 2014), authentications (10.4 million
in 2014), and Wi-Fi enabled sessions (59.0 million in 2014) across both our paid
and unpaid footprint.
Global Wi-Fi Footprint: We have a Wi-Fi network footprint and supply chain that consists of
more than 18 million hotspots in 120 countries and territories, including major airports,
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convention centers, airplanes, trains, train stations, hotels, restaurants, retail, and small business
locations. In the second quarter of 2014, we began including both commercial grade venues and
public access and community locations that are accessible in the iPass network. Our technology
integration across multiple global network providers forms the basis of our network services and
we believe creates a unique cost advantage for our customers. We typically contract with network
service providers, integrate their networks into our global infrastructure, and monitor their
performance to ensure that our customers have a consistent and reliable end user experience.
•
Our paid Wi-Fi footprint supported 5.8 million usage hours and 6.4 million
network sessions in 2014 on an average of approximately 96,000 unique monthly
Wi-Fi network users.
•
Hotspots that cover 95% of the world’s top 100 airports and 82,000 strategic
venues such as hotels and convention centers.
Business Portfolio
On June 30, 2014 we entered into an agreement and completed the sale of our Unity Managed
Network Services business unit ("Unity business"), which is reported in this filing as discontinued operations.
Our Unity Business was focused on delivering and managing high speed Wi-Fi and WAN managed network
solutions to customers in a variety of industries. As a result of the sale, we now currently have a single
reportable operating segment, Mobility Services. Our Mobility Services, collectively referred to as Open
Mobile or "OM", comprises two service offerings: (1) Open Mobile Enterprise Services, and (2) Open Mobile
Exchange.
Open Mobile Enterprise Services (“iPass OME” or “OME”): We provide iPass OME to large
enterprises to deliver enhanced network mobility services, addressing large enterprises’ needs to
manage their mobility economics, high speed network connectivity requirements and
proliferation of mobile devices, including the “bring-your-own-device” trend. OME consists
primarily of our network services and platform services, as follows:
Network Services: Our network provides our enterprise and carrier customers access to more than
18 million global commercial Wi-Fi hotspots in 120 countries globally and across leading Wi-Fi
venues. Our offerings span multiple geographies and are primarily focused on Wi-Fi access
technologies. We continue to wind down our legacy Dial-up and 3G connectivity options as we
focus our efforts on the Wi-Fi market.
Platform Services: Our cloud-based Open Mobile Platform enables enterprise users to connect
from most mobile devices over a wide range of networks. These services allow our customers to
effectively manage their mobile workforces by controlling costs, enforcing compliance and
ensuring security when workers connect their mobile devices to the Internet and wireless
networks. Effective July 1, 2012 we announced the end-of-life of our legacy iPC platform and
continued to manage the wind down of the legacy platform.
Open Mobile Exchange (“iPass OMX” or “OMX”): We provide our iPass OMX to strategic
partners that incorporate iPass OMX into their core products and services, geared for the mass
market. OMX is best understood as our wholesale delivery mechanism to provide network and
platform connectivity to the consumer market. iPass OMX strategic partners include global
OEMs (Original Equipment Manufacturers), premium brand partners, software product and
service providers, and telecom carriers. We continue to focus on adding new channels to further
grow our OMX services revenue.
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Our Strategy
We intend to leverage our unique set of mobility assets across our business portfolio offerings to
drive growth in users, customers and Wi-Fi usage with a committed focus on smartphone and tablet adoption
and delivering customer satisfaction via enhanced end user experience across our platform and network.
Our strategy consists of the following key elements and initiatives specific to our OM service
offering:
•

•

•

Increased Penetration in Existing Customers: Expand our understanding of
our enterprise customers’ end users experience to drive additional virality,
penetration, usage, leading to increased revenue. We strive to optimize business
intelligence and turn user insights into actionable data to improve our customer
activation rates and connection success rates.
New Customer Acquisition: Judiciously invest in sales and marketing programs
to increase brand awareness, deepen lead generation activities, and drive organic
revenue growth. We intend to continue to expand beyond the traditional
enterprise and carrier customers into mid-market business and other consumer
and wholesale opportunities.
Continue to Optimize the End User Experience: Smartphones and tablets
(“SP&T”) continue to be a largely untapped market for global Wi-Fi roaming.
By continuing to focus on improving service quality, connectivity success rates,
and leading the evolution of the global Wi-Fi ecosystem, we plan to drive
improvements in the global user experience which we expect will translate to
increased user demand in the billion-plus market of Wi-Fi enabled mobile
devices.

Geographic Revenue
iPass revenue is derived from the following geographical locations:
2014

United States
Mobility Service Revenues
International
Mobility Service Revenues

For the Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012

35%

37%

41%

65%

63%

59%

Geographic revenues are determined by the location of the customer’s headquarters. One
customer accounted for 10% of total revenues from continuing operations for the years ended December 31,
2014. No individual customer accounted for 10% or more of total revenues from continuing operations for the
years ended December 31, 2013, and 2012.
For further financial information on the geographic information, refer to the information
contained in Note 14, “Segment and Geographic Information,” in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 15. For risks attendant to foreign operations, see the risk entitled “Because a
meaningful portion of our business is international, we encounter additional risks, which may impact our
revenues and profitability” in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this Form 10-K.
Seasonality
We generally experience seasonality in our business due to decreased business travel during the
summer, particularly in Europe, and during the year-end holiday season which results in lower usage of our
6

network services. Seasonal trends or other factors, such as bad weather, may cause fluctuations in our business
results.
Network Service Providers
We have contractual relationships with approximately 200 telecommunications carriers, Internet
service providers and other network service providers that enable us to offer our network services around the
world. We pay network service providers for access to their network on a usage, session or subscription basis.
Most of these contracts have a one or two-year term, after which either party can terminate the contract with
notice. The contracts we have entered into with providers are non-exclusive and may contain minimum
commitments for the purchase of network access.
Sales and Marketing
Our sales organization is structured into regional account teams, which include sales
management, sales engineers and customer success teams. We sell our services directly through our global sales
force and indirectly through our reseller and carrier partners. We maintain sales offices or personnel in a number
of cities in the United States as well as in the United Kingdom, India, Australia, Japan, Germany, France,
Singapore, Netherlands, and China. As of December 31, 2014, our sales organization comprised 44 individuals:
19 in North America, 21 in Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) and 4 in Asia Pacific. Our sales and
marketing expenses from continuing operations were $15.8 million, $16.4 million and $17.9 million in 2014,
2013, and 2012, respectively.
Our reseller, wholesale, and carrier partners typically sign a one to two-year agreement with us
through which we appoint them as a non-exclusive reseller of our services. Their reseller responsibilities vary
and may include actively marketing and selling our services, deploying and supporting customer accounts, and
implementing and managing billing for their customers. Our current sales structure allows us to offer our
services without incurring the full cost of customer acquisition (sales and marketing) or customer post-sales
support. Our reseller, wholesale, and carrier partners typically sell complementary hardware, software, and
services, and bundle our services with their core offerings. They may also have a base of existing customers to
whom they can efficiently sell our portfolio of services. In many cases our salespeople do support our reseller,
wholesale, and carrier partners with closing new business, and our post-sales team may work with them to
ensure successful implementation of our services. However, the enterprise or consumer remains the customer of
our reseller, wholesale, and carrier partners and has no direct financial relationship with us.
We focus our marketing efforts on establishing a strong corporate reputation in the market,
creating awareness and preference for our services and their benefits, educating potential customers, generating
new sales opportunities, generating end-user awareness and demand within existing customer accounts and
enabling our sales force and channel partners to effectively sell and deploy our service offerings. We conduct a
variety of marketing programs that may include advertising, promotions, public relations, analyst relations,
telemarketing, direct marketing, web and e-mail marketing, collateral and sales tools creation, seminars, events
and trade shows, training, co-operative channel marketing, internet marketing and promotions.
Competition
The market for mobile connectivity targeted at global travelers is fragmented with a variety of
competitors, both direct and indirect, including telecom operators, cloud-based platform operators, cable
companies, and smaller Internet service providers. As our primary customer is the enterprise user, we partner
with many point Wi-Fi providers to drive incremental users to their connectivity resources, helping to further
monetize their assets via our roaming customer base. Our unique authentication fabric and global partnership
with over 150 Wi-Fi networks creates a scale and user experience that we believe is hard to replicate by any
single competitor, and creates an important differentiating factor for us. However, since we do not own our WiFi network, our competitors who own their Wi-Fi networks can offer lower Wi-Fi pricing than we can offer in
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specific markets, can bundle Wi-Fi network access with other services, and can use these additional service
offerings to drive increased brand awareness.
We believe the principal competitive factors in our industry include the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Global roaming coverage;
Ease of use and reliability of service;
Price, both directly of Wi-Fi connectivity, and of alternative connectivity options
such as 3G/4G;
Brand awareness;
Perceived benefit of connectivity by employees and business travelers; and
Bundled connectivity services.

See section 1A – Risk factors for additional details regarding competitive factors that could
adversely impact our business, financial condition, or results of operations.
Research and Development
We are committed to continuing to enhance our underlying technology and continuing to
innovate and incorporate new technologies and features into our services and network architecture. Our research
and development efforts are focused on improving and enhancing our platform and service offerings as well as
developing new services, especially for smartphones and tablets. As of December 31, 2014, our research and
development organization consisted of 110 employees, approximately 41 in North America and 69 in India. Our
research and development expenses from continuing operations were $11.9 million, $13.3 million and $13.7
million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Intellectual Property
We believe our technology and platform contains valuable intellectual property. We rely on a
combination of trademark, copyright, trade secret laws, patents and disclosure restrictions to protect these
intellectual property rights. We license third-party technologies that are incorporated in our services. We also
enter into confidentiality and proprietary rights agreements with our employees, consultants and other third
parties and control access to software, documentation and other proprietary information. We have a patent
portfolio, related to our Mobility Services, consisting of twenty-four U.S. patents, and six international patents.
Our patents expire between 2016 and 2025. We currently have ten U.S. patent applications pending, and sixteen
international patent applications pending (in the same subject areas as the U.S. patent applications). iPass and
the iPass logo are registered trademarks. We have also applied for or registered company trademarks in the U.S.
and numerous other countries.
Employees
As of December 31, 2014, we had 250 employees of which 118 were located in North America,
93 in Asia Pacific, and 39 in EMEA.
Available Information
We use our website, www.ipass.com, as a routine channel for distribution of important
information, including news releases, annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities and Exchange Act, as amended, as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically
filed with, or furnished to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). All of these postings and
filings are available on our website free of charge. The content on any website referred to in this Form 10-K is
not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K.
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Item 1A.

Risk Factors

Our business is subject to a number of risks, many of which are described below. If any of the
events described in these risks factors actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected, which would likely have a corresponding impact on the value of our
common stock. Further, the risk factors described below could cause actual results to differ materially from the
results contemplated by the forward-looking statements contained in this report. These risk factors should be
reviewed carefully.
If customer adoption and deployment of our Open Mobile Platform is slow, especially on smartphone and
tablet devices, our ability to grow our Mobility Services business could be harmed.
The future success of our business will depend in large part on our current and prospective
customers’ timeliness of adoption and deployment of our Open Mobile Platform. Key risks associated with our
Open Mobile Platform and services are as follows:
Customer adoption and deployment of our Open Mobile Platform, especially on smartphone and
tablet devices, may be slow. We believe that the growth of our business is dependent on the timely adoption and
deployment of the Open Mobile Platform by our customers. In particular, smartphone and tablet devices are
becoming more relied upon by our customers for their mobile computing needs and may cause our users to stop
using laptops while traveling, or to use them less often. We believe it is critical for our business that our services
for smartphone and tablet devices achieve market acceptance and that our customers rapidly adopt and deploy
our services on smartphone and tablet devices. A material delay in the adoption and deployment of the Open
Mobile Platform by our customers, on smartphone and tablet devices in particular, will adversely impact our
ability to grow revenues and achieve profitability.
Customer deployment of our Open Mobile Platform may not result in increased use of our
services. We believe it is important to the future success of our business that users of our Mobility Services
increase their usage of our platform and network services. We believe that the deployment by our customers of
our Open Mobile Platform, especially on smartphone and tablet devices, will lead to increased usage of our
platform services and correspondingly, our network services, which will lead to an increase in our revenue.
However, even if a significant portion of our customers deploy our Open Mobile Platform, there is no guarantee
that our customers will use our services more frequently.
Our Open Mobile Platform may have technical limitations that cause our customers to delay
adoption or deployment. There is risk that the Open Mobile Platform may contain technological limitations,
bugs or errors that would cause our customers to not adopt or delay the adoption of the Open Mobile Platform.
If some or all of these risks associated with our Open Mobile Platform were to occur, adoption and deployment
of our Open Mobile Platform may not occur and our business could be harmed.
Customers must be willing to continue to pay for our platform or our revenue growth may slow.
We believe that it is important that the value proposition of our Open Mobile Platform is accepted by our
customers such that they are willing to pay for their users to use our mobility services. If our customers are
willing to adopt our Open Mobile Platform but are not willing to pay for the platform, our ability to grow
revenues and achieve profitability could be adversely impacted.
If our OMX service offerings do not achieve expanded market acceptance our ability to grow our business
could be harmed.
Our OMX service offerings were introduced in 2011 and incorporate our Open Mobile Platform,
global authentication fabric, and global Wi-Fi network to provide reseller, wholesale, and carrier partners
around the world with the infrastructure to offer their customers new mobility services. We have entered into
contracts with a number of customers for our OMX services, but ramping revenues takes time to develop. We
have and plan to continue to devote significant resources to building our OMX service line of business. If OMX
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service offerings do not achieve expanded market acceptance and generate meaningful revenues our financial
condition may be harmed.
If Global 3G/4G data roaming rates decline precipitously, our ability to grow our business could be harmed.
For our network services to be attractive to our customers, the cost of 3G/4G roaming must be
meaningfully greater than the cost of our Wi-Fi network services. Currently, in certain geographies such as Asia,
3G/4G roaming prices are not significantly higher than our rates for Wi-Fi access. In Europe, legislation has
been enacted mandating the reduction of wholesale 3G/4G roaming prices. If 3G/4G roaming prices do not
remain meaningfully higher than our Wi-Fi network prices then our ability to sell our Mobility Services could
be impacted and our business harmed.
Our decision to “End-of-Life” our legacy iPC platform product has and will continue to impact our total
revenues.
As of July 1, 2012 our iPC or legacy platform reached end-of-life. While the iPC platform
continues to function for existing customers, we only provide basic support and only for customers that pay
extended support fees. While we believe that the end-of-life of iPC will encourage our customers to migrate to
our Open Mobile platform, iPC customers may decide to instead terminate their service with us. If the number
of iPC customers who decide to terminate their service with us is greater than expected, our results of
operations could be negatively impacted.
If key global Wi-Fi venues offer “no charge” Internet access to all users, our network revenues could be
negatively affected.
We derive a significant portion of our network revenue from providing Wi-Fi access in certain
key venues (e.g., hotels, airports and cafes). In general, these venues charge their customers for Wi-Fi access. If
these venues begin offering Wi-Fi access at no charge, the amount we can charge our customers for Wi-Fi
access at these venues will likely decrease or we may not charge our customers for Wi-Fi access at these
venues. For example, Starbucks and certain airports in the United States have ceased charging their customers
for Wi-Fi access and we have experienced reduced revenues as a result. If this trend continues at other key WiFi venues, our network revenues and overall profitability may be negatively impacted.
If we do not accurately predict network usage for our Flat Rate price plans, our costs could increase without
a corresponding increase in network revenue.
A significant number of our customers have purchased our Flat Rate network price plans, and we
are signing new customers to this plan. In this plan, our customers pay a flat rate price to access our network
services. However, in the majority of situations we continue to pay our providers based on actual network
usage. The rate we charge in our Flat Rate price plans is based on statistical predictions of usage across a pool
of users within a customer. If actual usage is higher than expected our ability to achieve profitability could be
negatively impacted.
In 2014, we implemented certain fixed rate buying structures with some providers to mitigate this
risk. However, buying network access at a fixed rate creates additional risk if our customers were to use less
Wi-Fi in the future, which could negatively impact our profitability.
If demand for mobility services does not grow or grows in ways that do not require use of our services, we
may experience a decline in revenues and profitability.
The growth of our business is dependent, in part, upon the increased use of mobility services and
our ability to capture a higher proportion of this market. If the demand for mobility services does not continue
to grow, or grows in ways that do not require use of our services, then we may not be able to grow our business,
or achieve or maintain profitability. Increased usage of our Mobility Services depends on numerous factors,
including:
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•
•
•
•
•

•

•

Willingness of enterprises to make additional information technology
expenditures;
Availability of security services necessary to ensure data privacy over a variety of
networks;
Quality, cost and functionality of our services and competing services;
Increased adoption of wireless broadband access methods and our ability to
support these new methods;
Proliferation of smartphones, tablets and mobile handheld devices and related
applications, and our ability to provide valuable services and support for those
devices;
Our ability to partner with mobile network operators and service providers that
are willing to stimulate consumer awareness and adoption of our Mobility
Services; and
Our ability to timely implement technology changes to our services to meet
evolving industry standards for mobile devices, Wi-Fi network access and
customer business requirements.

If we are unable to meet the challenges posed by Wi-Fi access, our ability to profitably grow our business
may be impaired.
A substantial portion of the growth of our business has depended, and will continue to depend, in
part upon our ability to expand our global Wi-Fi network. Such an expansion may not result in additional
revenues to us. Key challenges in expanding our Wi-Fi network include:
The Wi-Fi access market continues to develop at a rapid pace. We derive a significant portion of
our revenues from wireless broadband “hotspots,” such as certain airports, hotels and convention centers. The
Wi-Fi access market continues to develop rapidly, in particular: the market for enterprise connectivity services
through Wi-Fi is characterized by evolving industry standards and specifications and there is currently no
uniform standard for Wi-Fi access. Furthermore, although the use of wireless frequencies generally does not
require a license in the United States and abroad, if Wi-Fi frequencies become subject to licensing requirements,
or are otherwise restricted, this would substantially impair the growth of Wi-Fi access. Some large
telecommunications providers and other stakeholders that pay large sums of money to license other portions of
the wireless spectrum may seek to have the Wi-Fi spectrum become subject to licensing restrictions. If the WiFi access market develops in ways that limit access growth, our ability to generate substantial revenues from
Wi-Fi access could be harmed.
The Wi-Fi service provider market is highly fragmented. There are currently many Wi-Fi service
providers that provide coverage in only one or a small number of hotspots. We have entered into contractual
relationships with numerous Wi-Fi service providers. These contracts generally have an initial term of two years
or less. We must continue to develop relationships with many providers on terms commercially acceptable to us
to provide adequate coverage for our customers’ mobile workers and to expand our Wi-Fi coverage. We may
also be required to develop additional technologies to integrate new wireless broadband services into our
service offering. If we are unable to develop these relationships or technologies, our ability to grow our business
could be impaired.
Consolidation of large Wi-Fi service providers may impair our ability to expand network service
coverage, negotiate favorable network access terms, and deliver consistent service in our network. The
telecommunications industry is rapidly evolving and highly competitive. These factors may cause large Wi-Fi
network service providers to consolidate, which would reduce the number of network service providers from
which we are able to obtain network access in key locations. If significant consolidation occurs, we will have a
smaller number of network service providers to acquire Wi-Fi network access from and we may not be able to
provide additional or sufficient redundant access points in some geographic areas, which could diminish our
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ability to provide broad, reliable, redundant coverage. Further, our ability to negotiate favorable access rates
from Wi-Fi network service providers could be impaired, which could increase our network access expenses
and harm our operating results.
Wi-Fi service provider actions may restrict our ability to sell our services. Some Wi-Fi network
providers restrict our ability to sell access to their networks to our resellers whom they consider competitive
with them. This can reduce our revenue by limiting the footprint our partners can make available to their
customers.
Significant dependency on key network providers could negatively affect our revenues.
There are certain venues (hotels, airports, airplanes, cafes, etc.) globally where we depend on key
providers for network access in those venues. In addition, in certain geographies we depend on a small number
of providers for a large portion of network access. If such a provider were to go out of business, terminate their
agreement with us, encounter technical difficulty such that network access was not available to our customers
for an extended period of time, it could have a negative impact on our revenues and profitability if we cannot
find an alternative provider to enable network access in those venues or geographies.
We face competition in the market for mobility services, which could make it difficult for us to succeed.
While we do not believe there are service providers in the mobility services market that offer a
platform or range of services in an integrated offering as we do, we compete with a variety of service providers,
including facilities-based carriers, cloud-based platform operators and mobility management solution providers.
Some of these providers have substantially greater resources, larger customer bases, longer operating histories
and/or greater name recognition than we have. In addition, we face the following challenges:
Many of our competitors can compete on price. Because many of our facilities-based competitors
own and operate physical networks they may be able to provide additional hotspot access at little incremental
cost to them. As a result, they may offer network access services at a lower cost, and may be willing to discount
or subsidize network access services to capture other sources of revenue. In contrast, we have traditionally
purchased network access from facilities-based network service providers to enable our network access service
and in these cases, may not be able to compete aggressively on price. In addition, new cloud-based platform
operators may enter the mobility services market and compete on price. In either case, we may lose business or
be forced to lower our prices to compete, which could reduce our revenues.
Many of our competitors offer additional services that we do not, which enables them to bundle
these services and compete favorably against us. Some of our competitors provide services that we do not, such
as 3G/4G data roaming, local exchange and long distance services, voicemail and digital subscriber line, or
DSL, services. Potential customers that desire these services on a bundled basis may choose to subscribe to
network access from a competitor that provides these additional services.
Our potential customers may have unrelated business relationships with our competitors and
consider those relationships when deciding between our services and those of our competitors. Many of our
competitors are large facilities-based carriers that purchase substantial amounts of services or provide other
services or goods unrelated to network access services. As a result, if a potential customer is also a supplier to
one of our large competitors, or purchases unrelated services or goods from our competitor, the potential
customer may be motivated to purchase its network access services from our competitor to maintain or enhance
its business relationship with that competitor. In addition, our current or potential carrier customers may already
have or may consider buying services from mobility management solution providers which may impact our
ability to sell our services to those customers as well as drive market prices down for the services that we offer.
Users may take advantage of free Wi-Fi networks for Internet and corporate access.
Telecommunications providers may offer free Wi-Fi as part of a home broadband or other service contract,
which may force down the prices which the market will bear for our services and could reduce our revenues.
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If our carrier and channel partners do not successfully market our services to their customers, then our
ability to grow our revenues could be impaired.
We sell our services directly through our sales force and indirectly through our channel partners,
which include telecommunication carriers, systems integrators and value-added resellers. A large percentage of
our sales outside the United States are made through our carrier and channel partners. Our business depends on
the efforts and the success of these carrier and channel partners in marketing our services to their customers.
Our own ability to promote our services directly to our carrier and channel partners’ customers is often limited.
Many of our carrier and channel partners may offer services to their customers that may be similar to, or
competitive with, our services. Therefore, these channel partners may not actively promote our services. If our
channel partners fail to market our services effectively, our ability to grow our revenue could be reduced and
our business may be impaired.
Our revenue and overall profitability may be adversely impacted by material reductions in existing customer
and partner purchase commitments.
Our customers and partners have traditionally entered into contractual provisions that require
them to pay the greater of the fees generated from the use of our services or a minimum committed amount over
a pre-determined time period. Minimum commitments are negotiated by customers to improve their unit
pricing, effectively guaranteeing a certain volume to achieve a reduced unit price. Recent global economic
conditions in certain cases caused our customers and partners to generate fees from the use of our services that
are significantly less than their minimum committed amounts. Consequently this shortfall has caused some
partners and customers upon renewal of their contracts with us, to renew with a lower minimum commitment
and in some cases with no minimum commitment. Additionally, in some cases partners and customers are
requesting a re-evaluation of their minimum commitments on a prospective basis during the term of their
existing contract; to maintain these commercial relationships, we have addressed these requests on a contract by
contract basis. The reduction or elimination of minimum purchase commitments could result in lower future
revenues.
Our software is complex and may contain errors that could damage our reputation and decrease usage of
our services.
Our software may contain errors that interrupt network access or have other unintended
consequences. If network access is disrupted due to a software error, or if any other unintended negative results
occur, such as the loss of billing information, a security breach, unauthorized access to our cloud-based platform
or the introduction of a virus by our software onto our customers’ computers or networks, our reputation could
be harmed and our business may suffer. Our contracts generally limit our exposure to incidental and
consequential damages and to the extent possible, we further limit our exposure by entering into insurance
policies that are designed to protect our customers and us from these and other types of losses. If these contract
provisions are not enforced or enforceable, or if liabilities arise that are not effectively limited or insured, our
operating results and financial condition could be harmed.
Because a meaningful portion of our business is international, we encounter additional risks, which may
impact our revenues and profitability.
We generate a substantial portion of our revenues from international customers. Revenues from
customers domiciled outside of the United States were approximately 65% of our revenues in 2014, of which
approximately 48% and 15% were generated in the EMEA and Asia Pacific regions, respectively. The
functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries is the U.S. Dollar and we currently bill nearly all of our services
in U.S. Dollars. However, we pay certain expenses in local currencies. During the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, we have not entered into any hedging contracts to manage foreign currency exposure. Our
international operations subject our business to specific risks that could negatively impact our business,
including:
•
Generally longer payment cycles for foreign customers;
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•

•
•
•
•

The impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on both the
attractiveness of our USD-based pricing and our operating results, particularly
upon the re-measurement of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the
transactional settlement of outstanding local currency liabilities;
High taxes in some foreign jurisdictions;
Difficulty in complying with Internet and data privacy related regulations in
foreign jurisdictions;
Difficulty enforcing intellectual property rights and weaker laws protecting these
rights; and
Ability to efficiently deploy capital and generate returns in foreign jurisdictions.

We may be exposed to credit risk, collection risk and payment delinquencies on our accounts receivable.
A substantial majority of our outstanding accounts receivables are not secured. Our standard
terms and conditions permit payment within a specified number of days following the receipt of our services.
While we have procedures to monitor and limit exposure to credit risk on our receivables, there can be no
assurance such procedures will effectively limit our collection risk and avoid losses. In addition, under poor
global economic conditions, certain of our customers have faced and may face liquidity concerns and have
delayed and may delay or may be unable to satisfy their payment obligations, which may have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and operating results.
Our sales cycles are lengthy and could require us to incur substantial costs that may not result in related
revenues.
Our business is characterized by a lengthy sales cycle. Once a contract with a customer is signed
there is typically an extended period before the customer or customer’s end-users actually begin to use our
services,
which is when we begin to realize network revenues. As a result, we may invest a significant amount of time
and effort in attempting to secure a customer which may not result in any revenues in the near term. Even if we
enter into a contract, we may have incurred substantial sales-related expenses well before we recognize any
related revenues. If the expenses associated with sales efforts increase and, we are not successful in our sales
efforts, or we are unable to generate associated offsetting revenues in a timely manner, our operating results
could be harmed.
Cyber security risks and privacy concerns related to Internet-based services could reduce demand for our
services.
The secure transmission of confidential information and mission critical data when using
Internet-based services is extremely important to our customers. A key component of our ability to attract and
retain customers is the security measures that we have engineered into our network for the authentication of the
end-user’s credentials. These measures are designed to protect against unauthorized access to our customers’
networks. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage networks change frequently
and generally are not recognized until launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these
techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures against unauthorized access or sabotage. If an
actual or perceived breach of network security occurs, that is attributable to our services, the market perception
of the effectiveness of our cyber security measures could be harmed resulting in a negative impact to our
business.
As part of providing our services, we collect certain information about the users of our service.
As such we must comply with evolving laws and regulations regarding the protection and disclosure of such
user information. While we have taken steps to comply with applicable privacy laws and regulations and to
protect user information, any well-publicized compromises of our users’ data may reduce demand for our
services and harm our business.
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We rely significantly on information technology to accurately bill our customers and any failure, inadequacy
or interruption of that technology could negatively impact our ability to report on our financial performance
on a timely basis.
A key component of our ability to attract and retain customers is the timely and accurate
furnishing of monthly detail billing records of activity on our network, rated for the agreements in place with
both our customers and our suppliers. Our ability to meet these billing requirements, as well as to effectively
manage and maintain our books and records and internal reporting requirements, depends significantly on our
internal information technology.
If licenses to third party technologies do not continue to be available to us at a reasonable cost, or at all, our
business and operations may be adversely affected.
We license technologies from several software providers that are incorporated into our services.
We anticipate that we will continue to license technology from third parties in the future. Licenses to third party
technologies may not continue to be available to us at a reasonable cost, or at all. The loss of the right to use
these technologies or other technologies that we license could have an adverse effect on our services and
increase our costs or cause interruptions, degradations or delays in our services until substitute technologies, if
available, are developed or identified, licensed and successfully integrated into our services.
Litigation arising out of intellectual property infringement could be expensive and disrupt our business.
We cannot be certain that our services do not, or will not, infringe upon patents, trademarks,
copyrights or other intellectual property rights held by third parties, or that other parties will not assert
infringement claims against us. Any claim of infringement of proprietary rights of others, even if ultimately
decided in our favor, could result in substantial costs and diversion of our resources. Successful claims against
us may result in an injunction or substantial monetary liability, which in either case could significantly impact
our results of operations or materially disrupt the conduct of our business. If we are enjoined from using a
technology, we will need to obtain a license to use the technology, but licenses to third-party technology may
not be available to us at a reasonable cost, or at all.
To compete we must attract and retain key employees, and our failure to do so could harm our results of
operations.
To compete we must attract and retain executives, sales representatives, engineers and other key
employees. Hiring and retaining qualified executives, sales representatives and engineers are critical to our
business, and competition for experienced employees in our industry can be intense. If we experience
significant turnover of our executives, sales representatives, engineers and other key employees it will be
difficult to achieve our business objectives and could adversely impact our results of operations.
If we fail to develop and effectively market our brand, our operating results may be harmed.
We believe that expanding awareness of the iPass brand is important to growing and achieving
acceptance of our iPass Open Mobile Platform. We have increased our marketing efforts, including new
promotional and marketing activities, to further implement our global marketing objectives. These promotional
and marketing activities may not result in any increased revenue. Further, any potential revenue increase as a
result of these promotional and marketing activities may not offset the expenses incurred in further promoting
the iPass brand.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments
None
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Item 2.

Properties

We currently lease approximately 48,000 square feet of space for our headquarters in Redwood
Shores. We recently signed a lease renewal and effective May 1, 2015, we will lease approximately 25,000
square feet of space for our headquarters in Redwood Shores, California under a lease that expires in 2020. We
also lease sales and support offices in other parts of the United States and abroad in EMEA and Asia Pacific. We
believe that our principal facility in Redwood Shores, and sales and support offices in other parts of the United
States and abroad are adequate for our business needs, and we expect that additional facilities will be available
in other jurisdictions to the extent we need to add new offices.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings
Not applicable.

Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5.

Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Price Range of Common Stock
Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “IPAS”.
The following table sets forth the intra-day high and low sale price of our common stock, in each quarterly
period presented within the two most recent years, as reported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market:
Price range
High

Year ended December 31, 2014:
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
Year ended December 31, 2013:
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

Low

$

1.88
1.70
1.82
1.67

$

1.45
1.05
1.11
1.32

$

2.37
2.08
2.36
2.20

$

1.85
1.56
1.78
1.29

We had 65,958,694 shares of our common stock outstanding as of February 27, 2015, held by
115 holders of record, although there are a significantly larger number of beneficial owners of our common
stock.
Dividends
We did not pay cash dividends on our common stock in 2014, 2013, or 2012. We currently do not
expect to pay cash dividends, although the declaration of any future cash dividend is at the discretion of the
Board of Directors and will depend on the financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements,
business conditions and other factors, as well as a determination that cash dividends are in the best interest of
our stockholders.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Compensation Committee of our Board of
Directors authorized the withholding of shares upon the vesting of restricted stock awards held by an executive
officer in order to satisfy tax obligations that are triggered/realized at the time of vesting; the number of shares
that have been withheld from the total amount vested in order to satisfy certain tax obligations is set forth in the
table below.

Total Number of
Shares
Date Shares Withheld Purchased (1)

August 29, 2014
October 10, 2014

37,580
3,757

Average Price Paid
Per Share (2)

$
$

1.16
1.57
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Total Number of Shares
(or units) Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or
Programs

$
$

—
—

Maximum Number (or
approximate dollar value)
of Shares (or units) That
May Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans or
Programs

$
$

—
—

(1)

In this table, the number of shares that have been withheld are referred to as the “Total Number
of Shares Purchased.” We do not currently have any stock repurchase plan in place.
The price per share was equal to the closing market price of our common stock on the date the
shares were withheld.

(2)

Performance Graph(1)
The performance line graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our
common stock with the cumulative total return of the NASDAQ Market Index and the Russell 2000 Index for
the five years ended December 31, 2014. The graph and table assumes that $100 was invested on December 31,
2009 in our common stock, the NASDAQ Market Index and the Russell 2000 Index and that all the dividends
were reinvested.
Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of $100
December 2014
250.00

200.00

DOLLARS

150.00

100.00

50.00

0.00
12/31/2009

12/31/2010

12/31/2011

iPass Inc.

12/31/2012

12/31/2013

NASDAQ Market Index

12/31/2014

Russell 2000 Index

Assumes $100 invested on Dec. 31, 2009
Assumes Dividend Reinvested

12/31/09

iPass Inc.
Russell 2000 Index
NASDAQ Market
Index

$

100.00
100.00
100.00

12/31/10

$

127.32
126.81
118.02

12/31/11

$

144.64
121.52
117.04

12/31/12

$

186.40
141.42
137.47

12/31/13

$

159.92
196.32
192.62

12/31/14

$

139.55
205.93
221.02

We do not believe that there is any published industry or line of business indices that are directly
relevant to our line of business. In addition, we do not believe that we can construct a peer group index as many
of the services similar to ours are only a small portion of the business of the companies providing such services.
Consequently, in addition to the NASDAQ Market Index, we are comparing our stock price performance to the
Russell 2000 Index because we believe that this broad market index provides a reasonable comparison of
stockholder returns.
(1)

This Section is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed “filed” with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference in any
filing of iPass under the 1933 Act or the 1934 Act whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation
language in any such filing.
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

The following table sets forth selected financial data from continuing operations as of the end of,
and for, the last five fiscal years. This selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Item 15 of this report.
Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012
2011
(In thousands, except per share data)

2014

Statement of Continuing
Operations Data
Revenue
Total cost of revenues and
operating expenses
Operating loss
Net loss from continuing
operations
Basic and diluted net loss per
share from continuing
operations
Cash dividends declared per
common share
Total assets
Total stockholders’ equity

$

$

69,804

$

77,729

$

92,530

$

110,703

2010

$

128,675

89,253
(19,449)

92,673
(14,944)

98,533
(6,003)

113,667
(2,965)

133,454
(4,779)

(12,205)

(14,705)

(5,991)

(3,312)

(3,914)

(0.19)

(0.23)

(0.10)

(0.06)

(0.07)

—
55,255
38,481

$

—
54,916
29,242

$

—
60,124
36,901

$

0.07
63,105
37,447

$

0.48
73,982
37,822

On June 30, 2014, we signed and closed the sale of our Unity Managed Network Services
business unit. As a result, fiscal 2014 results of operations and all prior comparative periods are recast to reflect
the Unity Managed Network Services business as a discontinued operation.
Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations
This section is organized as follows:

Key Corporate Objectives
Our overall strategy and goals
Significant Trends and Events Operating, financial and other material highlights affecting our company
Key Operating Metrics
Discussion of key metrics and measures that we use to evaluate our
operating performance
Segment Financial Information Discussion of the segment of our business: Mobility Services
and Geographic Information
Critical Accounting Policies
Accounting policies and estimates that we believe are most important to
and Estimates
understanding the assumptions and judgments incorporated in our reported
financial results
Results of Operations
An analysis of our financial results comparing the years ended December
31, 2014, December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012
Liquidity and Capital
An analysis of changes in our balance sheets and cash flows, and
Resources
discussion of our financial condition and potential sources of liquidity
Overview
We provide global enterprises and telecommunications carriers with cloud-based mobility
management and Wi-Fi connectivity services.
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As announced on July 1, 2014, we signed and closed the sale of our Unity Managed Network
Services business unit ("Unity business") on June 30, 2014. Our Unity business was focused on delivering and
managing high speed Wi-Fi and WAN managed network solutions to customers in a variety of industries. Our
fourth quarter 2014 and fiscal 2014 results of operations and all prior comparative periods are recast to reflect
the Unity business as a discontinued operation, and our MD&A focuses primarily on our continuing operations.
For a detailed discussion of our business, see “Item 1. Business.”
Key Corporate Objectives
We are focused on driving revenue growth and profitability by adding new customers through
brand awareness, improving our customer activation rates, and optimizing end user experience. Our plan is to
continue to expand the strategic value of our business by leveraging our mobility assets to address both large
and compelling market opportunities and to execute on key growth initiatives in our business. For a detailed
discussion regarding our key corporate objectives, see section entitled “Our Strategy” under “Item 1. Business.”

Significant Trends and Events
The following describes significant trends and events that impacted our financial condition,
results of operations, and/or the direction of our business in 2014:
Continued Focus on Growing Users
We have continued to show solid progress against two key metrics: (i) the number of active OM
Platform Active users; and (ii) the number of OP Wi-Fi Network users. During 2014, we grew our Open Mobile
Platform users from 622,000 for the fourth quarter of 2013 to 814,000 for the fourth quarter of 2014. We grew
our Open Mobile Wi-Fi Network users from 67,000 for the fourth quarter of 2013 to 84,000 for the fourth
quarter of 2014. Our Open Mobile growth has been driven by a combination of organic customer user and usage
ramps, legacy platform customer migrations, and new enterprise customer acquisition. We are focused on
growing Open Mobile revenues by growing these two key metrics. See “Key Operating Metrics” below for a
full discussion of our user metrics.
Broadened our Wholesale OMX Distribution Channels
Our OMX business was originally developed as a wholesale product for our carrier partners to
resell Wi-Fi network access to their end-users. While this is still a viable distribution channel for the OMX
business, in 2014 we saw success in broadening that wholesale distribution to a variety of other reseller
partners, including original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), premium branding partners, and software
product and service providers. Opening these new distribution channels in 2014 resulted in growing OMX
revenue by 29% year over year and has provided new opportunities to monetize our Wi-Fi network with
consumers.
Sold our Unity Managed Network Services Business
We announced on July 1, 2014, that we signed and closed the sale of the Unity business on June
30, 2014. Our fourth quarter 2014 results of operations and all prior comparative periods are recast to reflect the
Unity business as a discontinued operation. Selling our non-strategic Unity business has allowed management
to focus time and resources fully on our OM business.
Actively Managed the Wind Down of our Legacy Revenues
We define our legacy revenue to include Dial-up and 3G network, our iPC platform, and iPC user
driven network usage. Legacy revenues represented 17% of our 2014 revenue, down from 38% for 2013. We
exited the fourth quarter of 2014 with legacy revenue representing 11% of revenue for the quarter. We have
actively terminated supply agreements for dial and 3G services and will continue to wind down those revenue
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streams. We have migrated a significant portion of our iPC users to OM and will continue to migrate or
terminate the remaining iPC users.
Key Operating Metrics
Described below are key metrics that we use to evaluate our operating performance and our
success in transforming our business and driving future growth.
OM Wi-Fi Network Users
OM Wi-Fi Network Users is the number of our platform users each month in a given quarter that
paid for Wi-Fi network services from iPass.
OM Platform Active Users
OM Platform Active Users is the number of users who were billed Open Mobile platform fees
and who have used or deployed Open Mobile.
The following table summarizes the number of active users of iPass OME services (in
thousands). Each metric below is calculated as the average number of active users per month, during a given
quarter, for which a fee was billed by iPass for either Wi-Fi or Platform services:
For the Quarter Ended
December 31,
2014

September 30,
2014

June 30,
2014

March 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Wi-Fi Network Users

84

78

80

71

67

Active Platform Users

814

765

753

681

622

Adjusted Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization (“Adjusted EBITDA”)
Adjusted EBITDA is used by our management as a measure of operating efficiency, financial
performance and as a benchmark against our peers and competitors. In addition, we also use this metric as a
factor in our incentive compensation payouts. Management also believes that Adjusted EBITDA is useful to
investors because it is frequently used by securities analysts, investors and other interested parties to understand
our performance excluding the impact of items which may obscure trends in our core operating performance.
Furthermore, the use of Adjusted EBITDA facilitates comparisons with other companies in our industry which
may use similar financial measures to supplement their GAAP (accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States) results. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss adjusted for interest, income taxes, depreciation
and amortization, stock-based compensation, restructuring charges, net income (loss) from discontinued
operations, collection of previously written off bad debt expense from bankruptcy proceeding, certain state sales
and federal tax items and other discrete items, and other non-operating income. We adjust for these excluded
items because we believe that, in general, these items possess one or more of the following characteristics: their
magnitude and timing is largely outside of our control; they are unrelated to the ongoing operation of the
business in the ordinary course; they are unusual or infrequent and we do not expect them to occur in the
ordinary course of business; or non-cash expenses involving stock option grants and restricted stock issuances.
Adjusted EBITDA is not a measure determined in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered in
isolation or as a substitute for operating income (loss), net income (loss) or any other measure determined in
accordance with GAAP.
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The following table reconciles Adjusted EBITDA to GAAP net loss (in thousands):
2014

Adjusted EBITDA income (loss)
Interest income (expense)
Income tax benefit (expense)
Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortization of intangible assets
Stock-based compensation
Restructuring (charges) benefit
Other non-operating income
Collection of previously written off bad debt expense
from bankruptcy proceeding
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations
GAAP Total Net income (loss)

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2013

(13,651) $
(119)
7,101
(3,154)
—
(1,996)
(733)
2
345
19,179
6,974

$

2012

(9,368) $
(18)
782
(2,397)
—
(3,061)
(653)
10

(1,736)
19
269
(2,010)
(169)
(2,346)
(26)
8

—
2,393
(12,312) $

—
1,613
(4,378)

Segment Financial Information and Geographic Information
On June 30, 2014 we entered into an agreement and completed the sale of our Unity business
segment, which is reported in this filing as discontinued operations. Therefore, we currently have a single
reportable operating
segment, Mobility Services.
Mobility Services reflects our two primary areas of mobility services, (i) enterprise mobility
services that consist of Open Mobile Enterprise services, our legacy enterprise mobility services and other
ancillary services including professional consulting and other value-add services, and (ii) our Open Mobile
Exchange services that were launched in 2011.
For a more complete discussion of business risks that Mobility Services faces see the discussion
that appears in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” of this Form 10-K.
For further information on the Mobility Services segment and geographic information, refer to
the information contained in Note 14, “Segment and Geographic Information,” in the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item 15. For risks attendant to foreign operations, see the risk entitled
“Because a meaningful portion of our business is international, we encounter additional risks, which may
impact our revenues and profitability” in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this Form 10-K.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our
consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and
related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates and judgments on our historical
experience, knowledge of current conditions and our belief of what could occur in the future considering
available information, including assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. By
their nature, these estimates and judgments are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty and actual results
could differ materially from the amounts reported based on these policies. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our
estimates, including those related to revenue recognition. We believe our most significant estimates, judgments
and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements are used in the following
critical accounting policies.
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Revenue Recognition
Our revenue recognition policy requires us to make certain estimates and judgments, for
example, in the recognition of monthly minimum commitment (“MMC”) revenue.
For customers that have agreed to a MMC fee in connection with network usage, such customer’s
monthly invoice reflects the greater of the customer’s actual usage during the month or the customer’s
contractually committed monthly minimum for that month. If the MMC exceeds actual usage (“Shortfall”), we
determine whether the Shortfall is fixed or determinable in accordance with the revenue recognition criteria. If
we conclude that the Shortfall is fixed or determinable, based upon customer specific collection history, and all
other revenue recognition criteria have been met, we recognize as revenue the amount of the Shortfall which is
invoiced. If the customer is in a Shortfall situation and it is determined that the Shortfall is not fixed or
determinable, we recognize revenue only when the Shortfall is collected.
Performance -Based Restricted Stock Awards
Certain restricted stock awards have performance-based goals based on the achievement of
targeted quarterly revenue of Open Mobile or targeted EBITA, which require an assessment of the probability
and timing of vesting. We amortize stock-based compensation expense for performance-based awards on a
graded vesting basis over the vesting period, after assessing probability of achieving the requisite performance
criteria. Estimating the time in which we expect to achieve the requisite performance criteria requires
judgment. If events or circumstances occur that cause us to revise our estimated vest dates, we recognize the
unamortized expense prospectively over the revised estimated vesting period. Such a change in estimated vest
dates could have a material impact on our financial statements. We believe vesting of all performance-based
restricted stock awards is probable at December 31, 2014.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU”) 2013-11, Income Taxes: Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating
Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists. ASU 2013-11 requires the
unrecognized tax benefit to be presented as a reduction of a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss
carryforward, or similar tax loss or tax credit carryforward, except that, if a net operating loss carryforward, a
similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward is not available at the reporting date to settle any additional income
taxes that would result from the disallowance of a tax position, then the unrecognized tax benefit should be
presented as a liability. ASU No. 2013-11 is effective prospectively for fiscal years, and interim periods within
those years beginning after December 15, 2013. The adoption of ASU No. 2013-11 has not had a material
impact on our financial position or results of operations.
In April 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU”) 2014-08, Presentation of Financial Statements (Topic 205) and Property, Plant, and Equipment
(Topic 360) Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity. ASU
2014-08 changes the requirements for reporting discontinued operations under current U.S. GAAP (Accounting
Standards Codification Subtopic 205-20 Discontinued Operations, “ASC 205-20”) and provides a new
definition of discontinued operations. ASU No. 2014-08 is effective prospectively for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2014. Early adoption is permitted, but only for
disposals (or classifications as held for sale) that have not been reported in financial statements previously
issued or available for issuance. We have not adopted ASU 2014-08 in the current fiscal year. We do not expect
that this guidance will materially impact our consolidated financial statements.
On May 28, 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of
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promised goods or services to customers. The ASU will replace most existing revenue recognition guidance in
U.S. GAAP when it becomes effective. The new standard is effective for us on January 1, 2017. Early
application is not permitted. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect
transition method. We are evaluating the effect that ASU 2014-09 will have on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures. We have not yet selected a transition method nor have we determined the
effect of the standard on our ongoing financial reporting.
On August 27, 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an
Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern, which requires management to assess an entity's ability to
continue as a going concern, and provide related footnote disclosures in certain circumstances. The new
standard is effective for us in the first annual period ending after December 31, 2016. Early adoption is
permitted. We have not adopted ASU 2014-15 in the current fiscal year. We do not expect that this guidance will
materially impact our consolidated financial statements.
Results of Operations
Sources of Revenues
On June 30, 2014, we entered into an agreement and completed the sale of our Unity business.
Accordingly, we currently have a single reportable operating segment, Mobility Services, and analyze revenue from
continuing operations. Within Mobility Services, we differentiate and analyze our Open Mobile and legacy generated
revenues separately.
Open Mobile generated revenues consist of:
•
Network—Wi-Fi and minimum customer commitments based on the number of network
users sourced from the Open Mobile platform.
•
Platform—Fees based on the number of Open Mobile Platform Active users and other fees
specific to providing additional value add services to Open Mobile customers.
•
Open Mobile Exchange—Revenues generated from our OMX customers.
Legacy generated revenues consist of Dial-up and 3G network, our iPC platform, and related platform
services, as well as iPC driven network usage, including iPC user driven Wi-Fi and minimum commit
shortfall.
2014

Mobility Services
Open Mobile
Open Mobile Enterprise:
Network
Platform and other fees
Open Mobile Exchange
Legacy iPC

$

For the Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012
(in thousands)

69,804
57,737
54,697
38,625
16,072
3,040
12,067

$

77,729
47,915
45,553
29,710
15,843
2,362
29,814

$

92,530
27,057
26,271
13,963
12,308
786
65,473

For the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to 2013, Mobility Service revenue decreased $7.9
million or 10% as the decrease in legacy iPC revenue of $17.7 million outpaced the increase in Open Mobile ("OM")
revenue of $9.8 million. Legacy iPC declines were attributed to customer terminations, anticipated usage reductions in
our 3G and Dial-up services, and continued migrations to OM. Growth in OM was attributable to organic growth of
OM network and active platform users, and migration of Legacy iPC customers.
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For the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to 2012, Mobility Service revenue decreased $14.8
million or 16% as the decrease in legacy iPC revenue of $35.7 million outpaced the increase in OM revenue of $20.9
million. Legacy iPC declines were attributed to migrations, customer terminations, and anticipated usage reductions in
our 3G and Dial-up services. Growth in OM was attributable to organic growth of OM network and active platform
users, and migration of Legacy iPC customers.
Network Gross Margin
We use network gross margin as a metric to assist us in assessing the profitability of our various network
services. Our overall network gross margin is defined as network revenue less network access costs divided by network
revenue.
2014

Network Gross Margin (%)

Year Ended December 31,
2013

40.9%

45.4%

2012

51.6%

The 4.5 and 6.2 percentage point decreases in network gross margin from 2013 to 2014 and 2012 to
2013, respectively, were primarily due to decreases in high margin revenue streams such as monthly minimum
commitment revenue and Dial-up, as well as the impact of higher Wi-Fi usage by customers on flat rate price plans, and
weakening of US dollar against currencies we buy network access costs.
Cost of Revenues and Operating Expenses
Network Access Costs (NAC)
NAC consist of charges for network access which we pay to our network service providers and other
direct cost of sales.
2014

Network access costs
As a percentage of revenue

$

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012
(In thousands, except percentages)

29,608
$
42.4%

29,253
$
37.6%

32,766
35.4%

Network access costs increased approximately $0.4 million or 1% from 2013 to 2014 primarily due to the
increase of OME and OMX network access costs of $2.4 million driven by the growth in Wi-Fi network users and
usage, partially offset by the decrease of 3G network access costs of $2.1 million due to a decline on 3G legacy
customer usage. In addition, network access costs as a percentage of revenue increased by 4.8 percentage points from
37.6% for 2013 to 42.4% for 2014 primarily due to the decrease in minimum commitment and platform revenue of 25%
and 14%, respectively. Minimum commitment and platform revenue have no associated network access costs.
Network access costs decreased approximately $3.5 million or 11% from 2012 to 2013 primarily due to the
decrease of 3G network access costs of $4.2 million due to termination of 3G legacy customers, partially offset by the
increase of $0.7 million related to OME and OMX network access costs due to the growth in Wi-Fi network users and
usage. In addition, network access costs as a percentage of revenue increased by 2.2 percentage points from 35.4% for
2012 to 37.6% for 2013 primarily due to the decrease in minimum commitment and platform revenue of 35% and 12%,
respectively.
Network Operations
Network operations expenses consist of compensation and benefits for our network engineering,
customer support and network access quality personnel, outside consultants, transaction center fees, network equipment
depreciation, inventory costs, and allocated overhead costs.
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2014

Network operations expense
As a percentage of revenue

$

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012
(In thousands, except percentages)

13,159
$
18.9%

12,701
$
16.3%

13,525
14.6%

The increase in network operations expenses of approximately $0.5 million or 4% for 2014 compared to
2013 was primarily due to the increase in depreciation and maintenance expense of $1.1 million as we have invested to
refresh our technology infrastructure. This increase is partially offset by decreases in headcount-related costs of $0.6
million as we continue to manage our cost structure.
The decrease in network operations expenses of approximately $0.8 million or 6% for 2013 compared to
2012 was primarily due to a decrease in legacy 3G card inventory expense and headcount-related costs of
approximately $0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively.
Research and Development
Research and development expenses consist of compensation and benefits for our research and
development personnel, consulting, and allocated overhead costs.
2014

Research and development expenses
As a percentage of revenue

$

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012
(In thousands, except percentages)

11,921
$
17.1%

13,317
$
17.1%

13,733
14.8%

The decrease in research and development expenses of approximately $1.4 million or 11% for 2014
compared to 2013 was primarily due to the decrease in headcount, consulting, and support and maintenance cost of
approximately $1.4 million as our OM platform has reached increasing product maturity.
The decrease in research and development expenses of approximately $0.4 million or 3% for 2013
compared to 2012 was primarily due to lower headcount-related costs of approximately $0.4 million.
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses consist of compensation, benefits, advertising and promotion costs, and
allocated overhead costs.
2014

Sales and marketing expenses
As a percentage of revenue

$

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012
(In thousands, except percentages)

15,759
$
22.6%

16,396
$
21.1%

17,872
19.3%

The decrease in sales and marketing expenses of approximately $0.7 million or 4% for 2014 compared to
2013 was primarily due to lower headcount-related costs of approximately $1.0 million. This decrease was offset by
increases in marketing program expenses of $0.2 million.
The decrease in sales and marketing expenses of approximately $1.5 million or 8% for 2013 compared to
2012 was mainly due to lower headcount-related costs of $1.3 million, and a decrease of $0.2 million related to
marketing programs.
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General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation and benefits for general and
administrative personnel, facilities, legal and accounting expenses.
2014

General and administrative expenses
As a percentage of revenue

$

Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012
(In thousands, except percentages)

18,073
$
25.9%

20,353
$
26.2%

20,442
22.1%

The decrease in general and administrative expenses of approximately $2.3 million or 11% for 2014
compared to 2013 was primarily due to a decrease in headcount, consulting, and professional services expenses of $2.0
million associated with ongoing cost management initiatives, and a decrease in depreciation expense of $0.3 million.
The decrease in general and administrative expenses of approximately $0.1 million for 2013 compared to
2012 was primarily due to decrease in headcount, payroll tax, consulting expenses of $0.3 million, a decrease in facility
costs of $0.4 million, a decrease in rent expense of $0.2 million, partially offset by an increase in depreciation expense
of $0.8 million related to our going "live" with our ERP system.
Restructuring Charges
During the third quarter of 2014, the Company announced a restructuring plan (Q3 2014 Plan) to re-align
its cost structure as a result of the divestiture of its Unity business, which resulted in workforce reduction of
approximately 20 employees worldwide and the termination of lease contracts for certain leased facilities.
In the first quarter of 2013, we announced a restructuring plan (Q1 2013 Plan) to re-align our cost
structure to focus investments, resources and operating expenses on our growing Open Mobile business, which resulted
in a workforce reduction of 16 positions across all functional areas and termination of a lease contract.
During the year ended December 31, 2009, we announced restructuring plans (2009 Plans) to reduce our
operating costs and focus our resources on key strategic priorities, which resulted in a workforce reduction of 146
positions across all functional areas and abandonment of certain facilities and termination of a contract obligation. We
completed all terminations by the first quarter of 2010.
We incurred a restructuring charge of approximately $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014,
compared to the restructuring charge of $0.7 million and $26,000 for the same period in 2013 and 2012, respectively.
These activities were related to our Q3 2014, Q1 2013 and 2009 Plans.
Non-Operating Income and Expenses
Interest and other income and expenses
During the years ended December 31, 2014, and 2013, we acquired enterprise database software and
infrastructure hardware, which were financed through a vendor, and incurred approximately $0.1 million and $30,000
of interest expenses, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, we collected approximately $0.3 million on final bankruptcy
court settlement of a customer receivable from 2004 that had previously written off as uncollectible.
Foreign Exchange Gains and Losses
Foreign exchange gains and losses primarily include realized and unrealized gains and losses on foreign
currency transactions. Foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations impact the re-measurement of certain assets and
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar and generate unrealized foreign exchange gains or
losses. In addition, some of our network access costs are invoiced in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. The
transactional settlement of these outstanding invoices and other cross-currency transactions generate realized foreign
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exchange gains or losses depending on the fluctuation of exchange rates between the date of invoicing and the date of
payment.
During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, we did not enter into any hedging contracts
and foreign exchange losses were less than $0.1 million, $0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively. The foreign
exchange losses in 2014 and 2013 were mainly due to weakening of the U.S. dollar against Euro and British Pound at
the time we settled certain non-U.S. Dollar denominated network access costs as well as the unfavorable remeasurement of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. During the second half of 2014, the US dollar
strengthened, minimizing the foreign exchange impact on the year. The foreign exchange loss in 2012 was primarily
due to the unfavorable re-measurement of foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities.
Provision For (Benefit From) Income Taxes
Income tax expense was recorded in discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2014,
2013, and 2012 of approximately $7.3 million, $1.4 million, and $0.9 million, respectively. This primarily reflects tax
expense on discontinued operations offsetting benefit in continuing operations of $7.1 million, $0.8 million, and $0.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 respectively. The offsetting tax benefits in 2014
represent the Company’s ability to utilize net operating losses to offset tax associated with the gain on the sale of the
Unity business. The offsetting tax benefits in 2012 and 2013 represent the Company’s ability to utilize net operating
losses to offset tax associated with the discontinued operation’s income.
As a result of the sale of Unity and the discontinued operations presentation, the effective tax rate for
continuing operations was a benefit of 36%, 5%, and 4% for 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively as income from the
discontinued operations, including the gain on sale in 2014, was offset by benefit in the continuing operations.
Divestiture of Business Segment
We announced on July 1, 2014, that we had completed the sale of our Unity business for $28.1 million to
Tolt Solutions, and accrued approximately $2.2 million of transaction costs which were fully paid as of December 31,
2014. Of the purchase price, $1.4 million was placed in an escrow account until June 30, 2015, to satisfy any claims for
the indemnification obligations of iPass for breaches of representations, warranties and covenants and certain other
specified matters. The sale resulted in a before tax gain of $25.0 million in the second quarter of 2014. The purchase
agreement was signed and the sale was completed on June 30, 2014.
Unity focused on delivering high speed Wi-Fi and WAN managed network solutions to customers in a
variety of industries, including retail, financial services, and healthcare. In accordance with applicable accounting
guidance for the disposal of long-lived assets, the results of the Unity business are presented as discontinued operations
and, as such, have been excluded from continuing operations for all periods presented.
The following table presents the revenues and components of discontinued operations, net of tax.
Six Months
Ended June 30,

Year Ended
December 31,

2014

Revenue
Income from discontinued operations before income taxes
Gain on sale of discontinued operations before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

15,458
1,506
25,014
(7,341)
$

19,179

$

2013

2012

33,386
3,744
—
(1,351)

33,548
2,524
—
(911)

2,393

$

1,613

In accordance with ASC 205-20 Discontinued Operations, the above table excluded certain shared
overhead costs and transfer pricing adjustments that were previously allocated to the Unity business segment in the
historical iPass consolidated financial statements that were filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The
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provisions for income taxes primarily reflect tax expense on discontinued operations including the gain on sale, which
is mostly offset by benefit in continuing operations.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We had cash and cash equivalents of $33.8 million at December 31, 2014, compared to $24.0
million at December 31, 2013.
Twelve months ended
December 31,
2014

Cash Flows
Net cash used in (provided by) operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

2013
(In thousands)

(14,836) $
25,532
(899)
9,797 $

(2,432) $
(1,598)
1,225
(2,805) $

2012

3,463
(3,494)
1,414
1,383

Operating Activities
Net cash from operating activities decreased by approximately $12.4 million from $2.4 million
used for the year ended December 31, 2013 to $14.8 million for the same period in 2014. This decrease is
mainly due to an increase in net loss after adjusting for the gain on sale of discontinued operations, and changes
in working capital mainly driven by timing of payments and reduction of accrued liabilities.
Net cash used in operating activities in 2013 was $2.4 million, compared to net cash provided by
operating activities of $3.5 million in 2012 mainly due to an increase in net loss.
Investing Activities
Net cash provided by investing activities increased by approximately $27.1 million from the net
cash used in investing activities of $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to the net cash provided
by investing activities of $25.5 million for the same period in 2014. This increase is mainly due to cash
proceeds from the sale of discontinued operations of $26.8 million and $1.0 million decrease in purchases of
property and equipment, offset by lower cash generated from release of restricted cash of $0.6 million.
Net cash used in investing activities in 2013 was approximately $1.6 million, compared to net
cash used in investing of $3.5 million in 2012, with the reduction mainly due to investment in our ERP system
in 2012 that went "live" in January 2013.
Financing Activities
Net cash from financing activities decreased by approximately $2.1 million from the net cash
provided by financing activities of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 to the net cash used in
financing activities of $0.9 million for the same period in 2014, mainly due to a decrease in the proceeds from
the exercise of stock options of $1.2 million and approximately $0.9 million driven by increase in principal
payments for vendor financed property and equipment.
Net cash provided by financing activities in 2013 was $1.2 million, compared to net cash
provided by financing activities of $1.4 million in 2012, with reduction mainly due to approximately $0.3
million of principal payments for vendor financed property and equipment in 2013.
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Sources of Cash and Future Cash Requirements
We have historically relied on existing cash and cash equivalents and cash flow from operations
for our liquidity needs. We use a professional investment management firm to manage a large portion of our
cash which is invested primarily in money market accounts. We believe that based on our current business plan
and revenue prospects and our anticipated cash flows from operations, our existing cash balances will be
sufficient to meet our working capital and operating resource expenditure requirements for at least the next
twelve months.
The amount of cash and cash equivalents held by our foreign subsidiaries as of December 31,
2014 and 2013 was $0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively. We currently do not intend to distribute any of
our cumulative earnings by our foreign subsidiaries to the parent company in the U.S.
Primary Uses of Cash
Our principal use of cash in 2014 was for network access costs, payroll related expenses,
transactions costs related to the sale of the Unity business segment, settlement of restructuring obligations,
payments for vendor financing equipment purchase, and general operating expenses including marketing, office
rent, and capital expenditures.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions that generate material
relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as
structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating
off-balance sheet arrangements or for other contractually narrow or limited purposes. We did not have any offbalance sheet arrangements at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of
SEC Regulation S-K.
Contractual Obligations
Less Than
1-3 Years
1 Year
(In thousands)

Total

Operating Lease Obligations
Other Purchase Commitments
Total Contractual Obligations (1)
(1)

$
$

7,436
6,649
14,085

$
$

1,806
5,946
7,752

$
$

3,531
703
4,234

3-5 Years

$
$

2,099
—
2,099

See Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies and Note 8. Vendor Financed Property and Equipment

As of December 31, 2014, we had unrecognized tax benefits of $0.8 million associated with our
uncertain tax positions (as per Note 9 Income Taxes). We are unable to estimate when any cash settlement with
a taxing authority might occur.
In the ordinary course of business, we may provide indemnifications of varying scope and terms
to customers, business partners, and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not limited to,
losses arising out of our breach of such agreements, services to be provided by us, or from intellectual property
infringement claims made by third-parties. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with
our directors and certain of our officers and employees that will require us, among other things, to indemnify
them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors, officers or
employees. We maintain director and officer insurance, which may cover certain liabilities arising from our
obligation to indemnify our directors and certain of our officers and employees, in certain circumstances. iPass’
product agreements typically include a limited indemnification provision for claims from third parties relating
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to breach of agreements and iPass’ intellectual property. Certain indemnification agreements may not be subject
to maximum loss clauses. If the potential loss from any indemnification claim is considered probable and the
amount or the range of the loss can be estimated, we accrue a liability for the estimated loss. To date, claims
under such indemnification provisions have not been significant.

Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Exchange Rate Risk
We are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk inherent in conducting business globally
in numerous currencies, of which the most significant to our operations for the year ended December 31, 2014
were the Euro, the British Pound, and the Indian Rupee. We are primarily exposed to foreign currency
fluctuations related to network access costs denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar. As such, we
benefit from a stronger U.S. Dollar and may be adversely affected by a weaker U.S. Dollar relative to the
foreign currency. Currently, we do not enter into currency forward exchange or option contracts to hedge
foreign currency exposures. The impact of foreign currency fluctuations is also discussed in “Foreign exchange
gains (losses)” under Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.”
Interest Rate Risk
As of December 31, 2014, we had cash and cash equivalents of $33.8 million, restricted cash of
$1.6 million and no short-term investments. As of December 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of
$24.0 million, restricted cash of $0.3 million and no short-term investments. Our cash balances are held
primarily in bank deposits and money market accounts with a remaining maturity of three months or less at the
time of purchase. As a result, we do not believe we are exposed to material interest rate risk.
Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Financial Statements
Our financial statements required by this item are set forth in Item 15 of this report and
incorporated by reference here. See Item 15(a)(1) for a listing of financial statements provided in the section
titled “Financial Statements.”
Supplementary Data
The following tables present our operating results from continuing operations for each of the
eight quarters during 2014 and 2013. This data has been derived from unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements that, in the opinion of our company’s management, include all adjustments, consisting only
of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of such information when read in conjunction
with our annual audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this report.
These operating results are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period (in thousands, except per
share amounts):
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March 31

Year Ended December 31, 2014
Revenues
Operating loss
Net loss from continuing operations
Basic and diluted net loss per share from
continuing operations

December 31

$

17,637 $
(6,021)
(5,946)

17,762 $
(4,580)
(715)

17,250 $
(4,829)
(3,113)

17,155
(4,019)
(2,431)

$

(0.09) $
(5,549)
(0.09)

(0.01) $
20,877
0.32

(0.05) $
(4,409)
(0.07)

(0.04)
(3,945)
(0.06)

Total net loss
Total net (loss) income per share

March 31

Year Ended December 31, 2013
Revenues
Operating loss
Net loss from continuing operations
Basic and diluted net loss per share from
continuing operations
Total net loss
Total net loss per share

Quarter Ended
June 30
September 30

Quarter Ended
June 30
September 30

December 31

$

20,909 $
(4,068)
(3,871)

20,288 $
(2,518)
(2,212)

18,539 $
(3,443)
(3,565)

17,993
(4,915)
(5,057)

$

(0.06) $
(3,375)
(0.05) $

(0.04) $
(1,586)
(0.03) $

(0.05) $
(2,842)
(0.04) $

(0.08)
(4,509)
(0.07)

$

On June 30, 2014, we signed and closed the sale of our Unity Managed Network Services
business unit. As a result, all quarters set forth above are recast to reflect the Unity Managed Network Services
business as a discontinued operation.
Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure
None.

Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of the end of the period covered by this report, management of the company conducted an
evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term
is defined in Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this report. Our disclosure controls and procedures
are designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives. Based upon that evaluation, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are
effective at the reasonable assurance level, as of the end of the period covered by this report, to ensure that
information required to be disclosed was recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by us in such reports is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such terms is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under the supervision
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and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management of the
company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based
upon the framework in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.
Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2014, our internal control over
financial reporting was effective based on these criteria. KPMG LLP, an independent registered public
accounting firm, has audited the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K and, as part of the
audit, has issued a report, included herein on the effectiveness of iPass’ internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2014.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
During the quarter ended December 31, 2014 there have been no changes in our internal control
over financial reporting that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.
Inherent Limitations of Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Control over Financial
Reporting
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not
expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls will prevent all errors and all fraud. A
control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance
that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact
that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs.
Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within iPass have been detected.
Item 9B.

Other Information
Not applicable.

33

PART III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information relating to our executive officers and directors will be presented under the captions
“Executive Officers” and “Proposal 1—Election of Directors” in our definitive proxy statement in connection
with our 2015 Annual Meeting of stockholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission not
later than April 30, 2015 (the “Proxy Statement”). That information is incorporated here by reference.
Information concerning compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
will be presented under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy
Statement. That information is incorporated into this report by reference.
Information concerning our Code of Ethics will be presented under the caption “Code of Conduct
and Ethics” in “Proposal—1 Election of Directors” in the Proxy Statement. That information is incorporated
here by reference.
Information concerning procedures for recommending nominees for director will be presented
under the caption “Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee” in “Proposal 1—Election of Directors”
in the Proxy Statement. That information is incorporated here by reference.
Information relating to our audit committee and the audit committee financial experts will be
presented under the captions “Information Regarding the Board of Directors and its Committees” and “Audit
Committee” in the “Proposal—1 Election of Directors” in the Proxy Statement. That information is
incorporated here by reference.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation

Information relating to director and executive compensation and other matters required by this
Item 11 will be presented under the caption “Executive Compensation and Related Information,”
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Compensation Committee Report” in the
Proxy Statement. That information is incorporated here by reference.
Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder
Matters

Information relating to the security ownership of our common stock by our management and
other beneficial owners will be presented under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners
and Management” in the Proxy Statement. That information is incorporated here by reference.
Information relating to securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans will be
presented under the caption “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans” in the
Proxy Statement. That information is incorporated here by reference.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information relating to certain relationships of our directors and executive officers and related
transactions and the independence of our directors will be presented under the captions “Independence of the
Board of Directors” in the “Proposal—1 Election of Directors” and “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” in the Proxy Statement. That information is incorporated here by reference.
Item 14.

Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be included under the caption “Principal Accountant
Fees and Services” in the “Proposal—2 Ratification of Independent Auditors” in the Proxy Statement. That
information is incorporated here by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15.
(a)

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
The following financial statements are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements
Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Financial Statements:
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013,
and 2012
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

36
37
38
39
40
41

2. Financial Statement Schedules
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts Receivable
All other schedules are omitted because they are not required or the required information is
shown in the financial statements or notes thereto.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
iPass Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of iPass Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company)
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014.. In connection with our audits
of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the accompanying financial statement schedule. We also have
audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based
on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that
receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors
of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of iPass Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992) issued by COSO.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Santa Clara, California
March 13, 2015
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iPASS INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value and share amounts)
As of December 31,
2014
2013

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
$
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $172 and
$1,010, respectively
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets
$

33,814
10,063
4,318
48,195
6,213
847
55,255

$

24,017

$

15,297
4,329
43,643
8,442
2,831
54,916

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
$
7,301 $
Accrued liabilities
7,188
Deferred revenue, short-term
437
Total current liabilities
14,926
Deferred revenue, long-term
115
Vendor financed property and equipment
854
Other long-term liabilities
879
Total liabilities
$
16,774 $
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value (250,000,000 shares authorized;
65
64,753,694 and 64,451,031 shares issued and outstanding, respectively)
Additional paid-in capital
220,368
(181,952)
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
38,481
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
$
55,255 $

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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9,334
9,100
3,212
21,646
2,191
1,586
251
25,674

65
218,103
(188,926)
29,242
54,916

iPASS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
2014

Revenues
Cost of revenues and operating expenses:
Network access costs
Network operations
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Restructuring charges and related adjustments
Amortization of intangible assets
Total cost of revenues and operating
Operating loss expenses
Interest (expense) income, net
Foreign exchange losses
Other income (expenses), net
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
Benefit from income taxes
Net loss from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Total net income (loss)
Total comprehensive net income (loss)

$

$

$
$
$
$

For the Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012

69,804
29,608
13,159
11,921
15,759
18,073
733
—
89,253
(19,449)
(119)
(67)
329
(19,306)
7,101
(12,205)
19,179
6,974
6,974

$

$

$
$
$
$

77,729
29,253
12,701
13,317
16,396
20,353
653
—
92,673
(14,944)
(18)
(507)
(18)
(15,487)
782
(14,705)
2,393
(12,312)
(12,312)

$

92,530

$
$
$
$

32,766
13,525
13,733
17,872
20,442
26
169
98,533
(6,003)
19
(288)
12
(6,260)
269
(5,991)
1,613
(4,378)
(4,378)

(0.23) $
0.04 $
(0.19) $

(0.10)
0.03
(0.07)

$

Total net income (loss) per share - basic and diluted
$
$
$

Loss from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Total net income (loss) per share
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted

(0.19) $
0.30 $
0.11 $
62,613,671

63,411,162

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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60,711,317

iPASS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands)
Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock
Shares

Amount

Accumulated
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Accumulated
Deficit

Balances,
December 31, 2011

59,139

59

209,624

—

Exercise of stock
options—common
stock issued

1,248

2

1,367

—

—

1,369

Restricted stock
granted

(172,236)

37,447

1,048

—

—

—

—

—

Employee stock
purchase plan—
common stock issued

186

—

203

—

—

203

Repurchased common
stock

(158)

—

—

(158)

(85)

—

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

2,418

—

Net loss

—

—

—

—

(4,378)

Balances,
December 31, 2012

61,536

61

213,454

—

(176,614)

Exercise of stock
options—common
stock issued

1,139

4

1,270

—

—

1,274

Restricted stock
granted

1,985

—

—

—

—

—

(346)

—

—

—

—

—

—

216

Restricted stock
canceled
Employee stock
purchase plan—
common stock issued

137

—

216

—

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

3,163

—

Net loss

—

—

—

Balances,
December 31, 2013

—

—

2,418
(4,378)
36,901

3,163

(12,312)

(12,312)

(188,926)

29,242

64,451

65

218,103

—

Exercise of stock
options—common
stock issued

135

—

139

—

—

139

Restricted stock
granted

480

—

—

—

—

—

Restricted stock
canceled

(390)

—

—

—

—

—

Employee stock
purchase plan—
common stock issued

119

—

158

—

—

158

Repurchased common
stock

(49)

—

—

(49)

(41)

—

Stock-based
compensation

—

—

2,017

—

—

2,017

Net income

—

—

—

—

6,974

6,974

64,754

65

220,368

—

Balances, December
31, 2014

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(181,952)

38,481

iPASS INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
2014

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
$
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash (used
in) provided by operating activities:
Gain on sale of discontinued operations
Stock-based compensation
Amortization of intangible assets
Depreciation, amortization and accretion
Deferred income taxes
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
(Recovery of) provision for doubtful accounts
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations
Change in restricted cash
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Principal payments for vendor financed property and
equipment
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
$
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Net cash paid for taxes
$
Accrued amounts for acquisition of property and equipment
Vendor financing of property and equipment

For the Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012

6,974

$

(12,312) $

(25,014)
2,017
—
3,330
(53)
54
(169)

—
3,163
—
2,776
203
22
134

—
2,418
169
2,110
117
3
(66)

2,816
(404)
232
(1,637)
(3,406)
(329)
753
(14,836)

1,828
625
785
2,063
(277)
(1,218)
(224)
(2,432)

4,113
878
718
(1,138)
(821)
(365)
(295)
3,463

(1,318)
26,750
100
25,532

(2,318)
—
720
(1,598)

(4,465)
—
971
(3,494)

1,490

1,414

248
(1,147)
(899)
9,797
24,017
33,814 $
259
73
501

(265)
1,225
(2,805)
26,822
24,017 $

$

See accompanying notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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(4,378)

261
98
2,597

$

—
1,414
1,383
25,439
26,822
375
321
—

iPASS INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Basis of Presentation
The Company's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP"). The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of iPass Inc. (the “Company”) and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.
The Company reports comprehensive income (loss) in a single continuous financial statement within
the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). The Company’s comprehensive income (loss) is
equivalent to its net income (loss) because the Company does not have any transactions that are recorded
through other comprehensive income (loss).
The Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) have been reclassified for all periods
presented to reflect discontinued operations treatment. (Refer to Note 15 for discussion related to Divestiture of
Business Segment).

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity
with GAAP and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are used for, but not limited to the valuation of
accounts receivables, other long-lived assets, stock-based compensation, legal contingencies, network access
costs, income taxes, and sales tax liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are based on management’s best
estimates and judgment. Actual results could differ from the estimates made by management with respect to
these and other items.
Foreign Currency Accounting
The U.S. Dollar is the functional currency for the Company and all of its subsidiaries; therefore,
the Company does not have a translation adjustment recorded through accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss). While the Company’s revenue contracts are denominated in United States (“U.S.”) dollars, the
Company has foreign operations that incur expenses in various foreign currencies. Monetary assets and
liabilities are remeasured using the current exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary assets and
liabilities and capital accounts are remeasured using historical exchange rates. Foreign currency expenses are
remeasured using the average exchange rates in effect during the year. Foreign currency exchange gains and
losses are presented separately in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss.
Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly-liquid investments with a remaining maturity of three months
or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist primarily of investments in
institutional money market funds.
Restricted Cash
The Company’s restricted cash consists of cash deposited with a national financial institution in
connection with irrevocable letters of credit issued to a network service provider. The total amount of restricted
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cash included in other assets (non-current) on the Consolidated Balance Sheets was $0.2 million and $0.3
million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. In addition $1.4 million of restricted cash was included
in other current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2014, which was placed into an
escrow account associated with the sale of its Unity business segment.
Concentrations of Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit
risk consist principally of cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable. Substantially all of the Company’s
cash and cash equivalents are held by two financial institutions. The Company is exposed to risk in the event of
default by these financial institutions or the issuers of these securities to the extent the balances are in excess of
amounts that are insured by the FDIC.
The Company’s receivables are derived from revenue earned from customers located primarily in
the United States and Europe. The Company provides credit to its customers in the normal course of business
and requires no collateral to secure accounts receivable. The Company maintains an allowance for potentially
uncollectible accounts receivable based on its assessment of the collectability of accounts receivable. The
allowance for doubtful accounts is based on customer-specific identification, which encompasses various
factors, including; the Company’s review of credit profiles of its customers, age of the accounts receivable
balances, contractual terms and conditions, current economic conditions that may affect a customer’s ability to
pay and historical payment experience. As of December 31, 2014, accounts receivables from European
customers represented 51% of total accounts receivable of which 82% were due within the Company’s standard
credit term of 30 days and 97% were aged less than 90 days past due.
As of December 31, 2014, one individual customer accounted for 12% of total accounts
receivable. As of December 31, 2013, no individual customer represented 10% or more of total accounts
receivable. For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, no individual customer represented more
than 10% of total revenues.
For the year ended December 31, 2014, two suppliers represented 14% and 13% of total network
access costs, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2013, one individual supplier represented 13% of
total network access costs. For the year ended December 31, 2012 two suppliers accounted for 16% and 14% of
total network access costs, respectively. No other individual supplier represented more than 10% of total
network access costs in 2014, 2013 and 2012.
Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation or amortization.
Depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of leasehold improvements are computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets as follows:
•
Equipment: 3 to 5 years
•
Furniture and fixtures: 5 years
•
Computer software: 3 to 5 years
•
Leasehold improvements: the shorter of the useful life of the leasehold
improvements or the term of the underlying lease
•
Construction in progress: various depending on the underlying asset being
developed
Upon retirement or sale, the cost of assets disposed of and the related accumulated depreciation
are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited or charged to the statement of
comprehensive loss. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
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Construction in progress is related to the construction or development of property and equipment
that has not yet been placed in service. Depreciation for equipment and computer software begins once it is
placed in service and depreciation for leasehold improvements commences once they are ready for intended use.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, along with
net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to
be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized as
income in the period that includes the enactment date. The Company records net deferred tax assets to the extent
management believe these assets would more likely than not be realized. In making such determination,
management considers all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred
tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations. In the
event management was to determine that the Company would be able to realize the deferred income tax assets
in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, the Company would make an adjustment to the valuation
allowance which would reduce the provision for income taxes.
The Company’s policy with respect to its undistributed foreign subsidiaries’ earnings is to
consider those earnings to be indefinitely reinvested and, accordingly, no related provision for U.S. federal, state
or foreign income taxes has been provided. As of December 31 2014, approximately $8.9 million of foreign
earnings have been deemed repatriated under the US tax law. Only the US federal and state income tax
consequences have been provided on those earnings, however, they will not be deemed to be repatriated under
foreign laws. The major foreign jurisdictions where the Company has operations includes India and the U.K.
Upon distribution of earnings from India and the U.K. in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company may
be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes in
the various foreign countries. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the cumulative undistributed earnings of the
Company’s foreign subsidiaries approximated $12.9 million and $11.5 million, respectively. The amount of
cash and cash equivalents held by the Company’s foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 was
$0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively. The Company currently does not intend to distribute any of its
remaining unrepatriated earnings by its foreign subsidiaries to the parent company in the U.S. If the income is to
be distributed, the net of $4.0 million will be subject to US tax.
The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes using a two-step approach to recognizing
and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by
determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be
sustained on audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to
measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement.
The Company classifies the liability for unrecognized tax benefits as current to the extent that the Company
anticipates payment (or receipt) of cash within one year. Actual results could differ materially from these
estimates and could significantly affect the effective tax rate and cash flows in future years.
The Company recognizes estimated interest and penalties relating to income tax uncertainties as a
component of the provision for income taxes.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation expense is estimated at the grant date based on the award’s fair value
and is recognized as expense over the award’s requisite service period. Awards that vest based on service
criteria are expensed on a straight-line basis. Awards having accelerated vesting based on achieving certain
performance criteria are expensed on graded vesting basis over the vesting period, after assessing the
probability of achieving the requisite performance criteria. The Company’s stock-based payment awards to
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employees and directors include stock options, restricted stock units and awards, and employee purchase rights
granted in connection with the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Certain restricted stock awards have
performance-based goals based on the achievement of targeted quarterly revenue of Open Mobile, targeted
EBITA or targeted number of active Open Mobile monetized users, which require an assessment of the
probability and timing of vesting. The Company estimates the fair value of restricted stock based on the day
prior to the date of grant. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options and employee purchase rights
on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model that requires the use of assumptions such as
expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, actual and projected employee stock option exercise
behaviors, risk-free interest rates and expected dividends. The expected stock price volatility is based on
historical volatility and the expected term is based on the historical average expected term. Because stock-based
compensation expense is based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it has been reduced for estimated
forfeitures. The expected forfeiture rate is based upon the historical experience of employee turnover and
certain other factors. To the extent the actual forfeiture rate is different from the expected rate, stock-based
compensation expense is adjusted accordingly.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when all four revenue recognition criteria have been met; persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, service has been provided to the customer, the fee is fixed or determinable,
and collection is reasonably assured. When the above criteria are not met, revenue is deferred and recognized
upon cash collection, upon acceptance of a completion certificate from the customer or when the product is
shipped, depending on the type of fee or service arrangement.
Network Fees
The Company recognizes network fees during the period the services are rendered to the endusers based on usage or a flat fee. The Company has two types of flat fee arrangements for its network services.
The first is a recurring flat fee that is billed at the same dollar amount each month. The second is a recurring fee
calculated based on a flat fee per user per month, of which the dollar amount billed would differ month-tomonth depending on the number of users using the Company’s services during a given month. The Company
frequently requires customers to commit to minimum network fees associated with monthly, quarterly or annual
minimum network usage or over the term of the arrangement. For customers that have agreed to a Minimum
Monthly Commitment (MMC), the customer’s monthly invoice reflects the greater of the customer’s actual
usage for the month or the MMC for that month. If the MMC exceeds actual usage (a “Shortfall”), the Company
determines whether the Shortfall is fixed or determinable. If the Company concludes that the Shortfall is fixed
or determinable, based upon customer specific billing history, and other revenue recognition criteria have been
met, the Company recognizes as revenue the amount of Shortfall which is invoiced. If the Company concludes
that the Shortfall is not fixed or determinable, the Company recognizes revenue when the Shortfall amount is
collected. The Company also bills certain network fees upfront and recognizes such fees ratably over the term
as services are provided.
Platform Services and Other Fees
Platform services are any services that allow a user to connect to a network using the iPass
application. Fees for this service are typically based upon a monthly rate, and revenue is recognized during the
month the services are provided. Revenue related to iPassConnect (“iPC”) fees, including extended support fees
as the iPC product reached end-of-life in 2012, and Open Mobile Platform fees are typically based upon a
monthly rate (per user rate or a flat fee) and are recognized during the month the services are provided. Start-up
support service fees representing charges to new customers, customization services and standard training may
be billed up-front in advance and recognized as revenue over the term of the contract or service delivery.

44

Deferred Revenue
The Company defers revenue for services that are billed in advance or prepaid as required per
customer agreements. Revenue is recognized as the services are being delivered, or ratably over the contract
term, depending on the nature of the service. Amounts expected to be recognized as revenue within one year are
classified as short-term.
Network Access Costs
Network access costs represent the amounts paid to network access providers monthly for the
usage of their networks. The Company has minimum purchase commitments with some network service
providers for access that it expects to utilize during the term of the contracts. Costs of minimum purchase
contracts are recognized as network access costs at the greater of the minimum commitment or actual usage.
Advertising Expenses
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 were approximately $0.1 million each year.
Internal Use Software Development Costs
The Company follows the guidance set forth in ASC 350-40, Internal Use Software,
(“ASC 350-40”), in accounting for the development of its application service and other internal use
applications. ASC 350-40 requires companies to capitalize qualifying computer software costs, which are
incurred during the application development stage. Costs related to preliminary project activities and postimplementation activities are expensed as incurred. The Company capitalized $0.3 million, $0.3 million, and
$2.6 million in 2014, 2013, and 2012 respectively. $2.6 million of capitalized software cost in 2012 related to
the development of a replacement enterprise resource planning (ERP) system.
Depreciation expense related to the purchase of the ERP system was approximately $0.7 million,
and $0.7 million in 2014 and 2013, respectively. $0.2 million of amortization expense was recorded in 2014,
2013, and 2012 related to internal use software capitalized in 2011. Management evaluates the useful lives of
the Company’s assets on an annual basis and tests for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets. There were no impairments to long lived assets during
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.
Note 3. Financial Instruments and Fair Value
Fair value is the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction in the principal or most advantageous market between market participants at the
measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required or
permitted to be recorded at fair value, the Company considers assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability.
Fair Value Hierarchy
The three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value are as follows:
•
Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
•
Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 either directly or indirectly, such as quoted
prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active;
or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market
data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; and
•
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity
and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
45

The recurring fair values of these financial assets (excluding cash) were determined using the
following inputs at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively:
As of December 31, 2014
Fair Value
Measured Using
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

As of December 31, 2013
Total
Balance

Fair Value
Measured Using
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total
Balance

$
$

$
$

$18,304
$18,304

(In thousands)

Financial assets
Money market funds(1)
Total financial assets
(1)

$29,306
$29,306

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$29,306
$29,306

$18,304
$18,304

—
—

—
—

Held in cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2, and 3 between December 31, 2014, and
December 31, 2013. As of December 31, 2014, and December 31, 2013, the carrying amount of accounts
receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities, approximates fair value due to their short maturities.
(Refer to Note 7 and 8 for discussion related to Accrued Restructuring and Vendor Financed Property and
Equipment).
Note 4. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

2013
(In thousands)

Equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer software
Construction in progress
Leasehold improvements

$

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

$

10,242 $
1,923
9,356
306
912
22,739
(16,526)
6,213 $

15,134
2,110
12,279
749
1,252
31,524
(23,082)
8,442

Depreciation expense for continuing operations was approximately $3.2 million, $2.4 million,
and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively. Depreciation expense
for discontinued operations was approximately $0.2 million, $0.4 million, and $0.1 million for the same
periods.
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company retired approximately $8.5 million of
gross property and equipment related to continuing operations, and recorded a loss on disposal of approximately
$0.1 million. As part of completing the sale of its Unity business segment on June 30, 2014, the Company
included approximately $2.0 million of gross property and equipment related to the discontinued operations in
the gain on sale calculation.
During 2013, the Company acquired approximately $2.6 million of enterprise database software
and infrastructure hardware. During April 2014, the Company acquired approximately $0.5 million of
additional enterprise infrastructure hardware. As of December 31, 2014, the Company held approximately $2.0
million of this enterprise database software and infrastructure hardware in computer software and equipment.
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Note 5. Other Assets
Other assets (non-current) consisted of the following:
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

2013
(In thousands)

Deferred installation costs and other long-term assets
Deposits
Long-term deferred tax asset, net
Restricted cash

$

—
563
134
150
847

$

$

$

1,677
808
96
250
2,831

Note 6. Accrued Liabilities
Accrued liabilities consisted of the following:
Year Ended
December 31,
2014

2013
(In thousands)

Tax liabilities
Accrued restructuring liabilities—current(1)
Accrued bonus, commissions and other employee benefits
Accrued for vendor financed property and equipment
Amounts due to customers
Other accrued liabilities

$

$
(1)

1,300
160
2,043
832
1,016
1,837
7,188

$

$

1,044
200
2,395
746
1,059
3,656
9,100

See Note 7. Accrued Restructuring

Note 7. Accrued Restructuring
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company announced restructuring plans (the
“2009 Plans”) to reduce operating costs and focus resources on key strategic priorities, which resulted in a
workforce reduction of 146 positions across all functional areas and abandonment of certain facilities and
termination of a contract obligation. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had remaining lease payments of
approximately $0.1 million, which were recorded at fair value at the time of restructuring plan was announced.
Management made assumptions in determining the fair value of the lease liabilities. The discounted cash flow
valuation technique used to determine the Level 3 fair value included inputs, such as the future rent payment
schedule, the discount rate and sublease income based on the executed sublease agreement through the end of
the lease terms.
During the first quarter of 2013, the Company announced a restructuring plan (the “Q1 2013
Plan”) to re-align its cost structure to focus investments, resources and operating expenses on the Company’s
growing Open Mobile business, which resulted in a workforce reduction of 16 positions across all functional
areas and termination of a lease contract. As of December 31, 2014, the Company completed all of the related
payments associated with this restructuring plan.
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During the third quarter of 2014, the Company announced a restructuring plan (the "Q3 2014
Plan") to re-align its cost structure as a result of the divestiture of its Unity business, which resulted in a
workforce reduction of approximately 20 employees worldwide and the termination of lease contracts for
certain leased facilities. The Company recorded approximately $0.7 million of restructuring charges during the
current fiscal year, and had less than $0.1 million of payments remaining as of December 31, 2014.
The following is a rollforward of restructuring liability for the Q3 2014, Q1 2013, and 2009
Plans:
Year Ended December 31,
2014
2013
(In thousands)

Beginning balance
Restructuring charges and related adjustments
Payments and adjustments
Ending balance

$

$

317 $
733
(890)
160 $

483 $
653
(819)
317 $

2012

736
26
(279)
483

As of December 31, 2014, less than $0.1 million of the balance represents employee termination
costs and remaining $0.1 million mainly relates to exit cost of certain leased facilities.
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, approximately $0.2 million and $0.2 million of the
restructuring liability are included in accrued liabilities, respectively. The remaining restructuring liability of
approximately $0.1 million is included in long-term liabilities at December 31, 2013.
Note 8. Vendor Financed Property and Equipment
In October, 2013, the Company acquired enterprise database software and infrastructure
hardware. This purchase was financed through a vendor and is to be paid over three years. In April 2014, the
Company acquired additional enterprise infrastructure hardware which was financed through the vendor and is
to be paid over two years. The total purchase financed by a vendor was approximately $3.1 million. Since
October 2013, the Company made approximately $1.4 million of principal payments, and as of December 31,
2014, approximately $0.8 million and $0.9 million were recorded to accrued liabilities and vendor financed
property and equipment, respectively based on the payment terms. The Company expects to pay principal
payments of $0.8 million and $0.9 million in fiscal year 2015 and fiscal year 2016, respectively.
As of December 31, 2014, $0.9 million of vendor financed property and equipment is recorded at
cost, which approximates a Level 3 fair value liability. The discounted cash flow valuation technique used to
determine the Level 3 fair value, included inputs such as the future payment schedule based on the executed
purchase agreement and a discount rate.
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Note 9. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes is based on continuing operations income (loss) for 2014, 2013
and 2012 before taxes as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2014

2013

2012

(In thousands)

U.S Source
Non-U.S. Source
Loss before income taxes

$

(20,306)

$

1,000
(19,306)

$
$

(16,819) $
1,332
(15,487) $

(6,894)
634
(6,260)

The provision for income taxes for continuing operations consisted of the following:
2014

Current:
U.S. federal
State
Foreign

$

$
Deferred:
U.S. federal
State
Foreign

$

$
$

Benefit from income taxes

Year Ended December 31,
2013
(In thousands)

— $
(3)
278
275 $
(7,107) $
(219)
(50)
(7,376) $
(7,101) $

—
32
334
366

$

$

(1,351) $
—
203
(1,148) $
(782) $

2012

—
30
495
525
(911)
—
117
(794)
(269)

Income tax expenses were recorded in discontinued operations for the year ended December 31,
2014, 2013, and 2012 of approximately $7.3 million, $1.4 million, and $0.9 million, respectively. This primarily
reflects tax expense on discontinued operations offsetting benefit in continuing operations of $7.1 million, $0.8
million, and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 respectively. The offsetting
tax benefits in 2014 represent the Company’s ability to utilize net operating losses to offset tax associated with
the gain on the sale of the Unity business. The offsetting tax benefits in 2012 and 2013 represent the Company’s
ability to utilize net operating losses to offset tax associated with the discontinued operation’s income.
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes
as well as net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company
provided a full valuation allowance on its net deferred tax assets in the United States, Israel, Australia and
Japan. The components of deferred tax assets consisted of the following:
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Year Ended December 31,
2014
2013
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carry forwards
Reserves and accruals
Research and other tax credits
Share based compensation
Property and equipment
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
Total net deferred tax assets

$

$

23,526 $
1,517
5,880
3,133
3,224
37,280 $
(35,348)
1,932 $

46,364
2,728
6,328
3,780
43
59,243
(58,218)
1,025

$

(1,606)
326 $

(751)
274

$

The provision for income taxes for continuing operations differed from the amounts computed by
applying the U.S. federal income tax rate to pretax loss before income taxes as a result of the following:
2014

Federal statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Foreign tax rate differential
Amortization of stock-based compensation
Research and development benefit
Deemed repatriated foreign earnings
Other
Valuation Allowance
Provision for income taxes

Year Ended December 31,
2013

(35)%
(1)
(1)
2
(2)
2
—
(1)
(36)%

(35)%
(7)
1
1
(9)
2
—
42
(5)%

2012

(35)%
(4)
6
1
(2)
61
1
(32)
(4)%

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had gross cumulative net operating loss carry forwards
for federal and state tax reporting purposes of approximately $67.2 million and $48.1 million, respectively,
which expire in various periods between 2015 and 2034. In addition, $7.6 million and $3.9 million for federal
and state respectively, are related to stock compensation deductions in excess of book deductions, the tax effect
of which would be to credit accumulated paid-in capital if realized. Utilization of the net operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards are subject to annual limitations due to certain ownership change rules provided by the
Internal Revenue Service Code of 1986, as amended and similar state provisions. Also included in the valuation
allowance as of December 31, 2014 is approximately $2.2 million related to net operating loss carry forwards in
Israel.
As of December 31, 2014, the Company also has research and development tax credit carry
forwards of approximately $4.4 million and $6.7 million for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively.
If not utilized, the federal carry forwards will expire in various amounts through 2034.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of
unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):
Balance at January 1, 2013
Increases for positions taken in prior years
Increases for positions related to the current year
Settlements with taxing authorities
Balance at December 31, 2013
Increases for positions taken in prior years
Increases for positions related to the current year
Decreases for positions taken in prior years
Decreases for statutes lapsing
Settlements with taxing authorities
Balance at December 31, 2014

$

$

$

5,773
282
832
(320)
6,567
5
186
(18)
(66)
—
6,674

The increase in unrecognized tax benefits primarily relates to certain research and development
tax credits and the establishment of reserve on transfer pricing.
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the company had $0.8 million and $0.8 million,
respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized will have an impact on the company's effective tax
rate.
It is reasonably possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will change in 2015.
Decreases in the unrecognized tax benefits will result from the lapsing of statutes of limitations and the possible
completion of tax audits in various jurisdictions. Increases will primarily result from tax positions expected to
be taken on tax returns for 2015.
In accordance with its accounting policy, the Company recognizes interest and penalties related
to income tax matters in the provision for income taxes; which were not considered material during 2014, 2013
and 2012.
Given the uncertainty as to settlement terms, the timing of payments and the impact of such
settlements on other uncertain tax positions, the range of estimated potential changes in underlying uncertain tax
positions is between a decrease of $0.8 million and an increase of $0.3 million.
The Company’s major taxing jurisdictions are U.S. Federal, California, the U.K. and India. In the
normal course of the Company’s business, the Company is subject to income tax audits in various jurisdictions.
Years 2007 to 2014 remain open to examination by certain of these major taxing jurisdictions.
The Company currently has income tax audits in progress in India and has accrued approximately
$0.8 million in connection with these audits.
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Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity
Equity Incentive Plans
The Company has two stock plans that permit it to grant stock options, restricted stock awards
and restricted stock units to employees (“Employee Plan”) and to directors (“Director Plan”). Stock
options granted to employees generally vest 25% on the first anniversary of the grant date with the remainder
vesting ratably over the following 36 months; stock options generally expire 10 years after the date of grant.
Restricted stock awards give the recipient the right to receive shares upon the lapse of the instruments’ time and/
or performance based restrictions. The restricted stock awards with time-based restrictions are considered
outstanding at the time of grant, as the holders are entitled to dividends and voting rights. Employees may
surrender a portion of their award shares to satisfy minimum statutory tax withholding obligations with respect
to the vesting of restricted stock awards. Restricted stock awards with only performance-based restrictions are
not considered outstanding until the performance criteria have been met and therefore are not entitled to
dividends or voting rights at the time of grant. The performance-based restricted stock awards vest upon the
achievement of pre-defined performance goals, including targeted earnings before interest, taxes and
amortization (“EBITA”), targeted number of Open Mobile platform active users, and targeted quarterly revenue
of Open Mobile.
During 2014 and 2013, the Company had granted a total of 420,000 and 1,935,000 shares of
performance-based restricted stock awards, respectively, that vest based on targeted quarterly revenue of Open
Mobile which carry a service-condition to vest in full if performance has not been met at December 31, 2017,
however, vesting will be accelerated upon the achievement of performance goals; none of which had vested at
December 31, 2014 as the performance goals had not been met.
The Company has a total of 753,925 outstanding shares of performance-based restricted stock
awards related to targeted EBITA, none of which had vested as of December 31, 2014. No performance-based
restricted stock awards were granted during the year ended December 31, 2012. During 2011, the Company
had granted a total of 280,000 shares of performance-based restricted stock awards related to targeted number of
Open Mobile platform active users which carry a service condition to vest four years from the grant date,
however, vesting will be accelerated upon the achievement of performance goals; all of which had vested at
December 31, 2014 based on achievement of the targeted number of Open Mobile platform active users.
Vesting of all performance-based restricted stock awards is considered probable.
The number of shares authorized for issuance is automatically increased by 5% annually under
the Employee Plan. Upon exercise, new shares are issued. As of December 31, 2014, 25,526,755 shares were
available for grant under all plans.
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The following table summarizes the stock option and restricted stock activity under the Plans for
the indicated periods:

Balance at December 31, 2011

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price
per Share

Shares
Available for
Future Grant

Number of
Options
Outstanding

18,011,756

9,535,000

$

1.82

945,500

$

2.31

(1,247,776) $

1.10

Authorized

3,206,969

Granted(1)

(1,993,000)

Options Exercised

Weighted
Average
Grant
Date Fair
Value per
Share

$

0.81

Restricted Stock Vested(1)
Terminated/cancelled/forfeited

995,912

Balance at December 31, 2012

20,221,637

Authorized

3,326,811

Granted(2)

(3,070,000)

Options Exercised

(944,196) $

3.04

8,288,528

$

1.85

1,085,000

$

1.81

(1,138,718) $

1.12

(628,230) $

2.70

$

0.70

Restricted Stock Vested(2)
Terminated/cancelled/forfeited

974,230

Balance at December 31, 2013

21,452,678

Authorized

3,472,551

Granted(3)

(1,505,000)

Options Exercised

—

Restricted Stock Vested(3)

—

Terminated/cancelled/forfeited

2,106,526

Balance at December 31, 2014

25,526,755

7,606,580

$

1.89

1,025,000

$

1.56

(135,499) $

1.03

(1,675,189) $
6,820,892

$

2.76
1.64

$

0.60

Number of
Restricted
Stock
Awards and
Units
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Grant
Date Fair
Value per
Share

1,051,090

$

1.52

1,047,500

$

2.16

(178,116) $

1.77

(51,716) $

1.80

1,868,758

$

1.85

1,985,000

$

1.86

(558,083) $

2.06

(346,000) $

1.88

2,949,675

$

1.81

480,000

$

1.18

(336,913) $

2.01

(431,337) $

1.98

2,661,425

$

(1)

Restricted stock granted during 2012 represent awards with time-based vesting criteria which have been included as shares
outstanding on the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity. Restricted stock vested during 2012 represent 229,832
restricted stock awards released (net of 51,716 shares withheld for taxes).

(2)

Restricted stock granted during 2013 represent awards with time-based vesting criteria which have been included as shares
outstanding on the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity. Restricted stock vested during 2013 represent 558,083
restricted stock awards released.

(3)

Restricted stock granted during 2014 represent awards with time-based vesting criteria which have been included as shares
outstanding on the consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity. Restricted stock vested during 2014 represent 378,250
restricted stock awards released (net of 41,337 shares withheld for taxes).

1.65

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised was less than $0.1 million, $1.0 million, and
$1.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the stock options outstanding and exercisable by range of
exercise prices as of December 31, 2014:

Range of Exercise
Prices

$0.71— 1.05
1.06 — 1.48
1.49 — 1.62
1.63 — 2.32
2.33 —5.74
Total

Number
Outstanding

1,674,308
1,472,255
1,442,113
1,595,000
637,216
6,820,892

Options Outstanding
WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual Life
(in Years)

Options Exercisable

4.68
4.32
7.70
7.99
2.36
5.80

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price per
Share

$

Number
Exercisable

0.96
1.26
1.58
1.93
3.73
1.64

1,674,308
1,372,255
716,927
713,011
634,049
5,110,550

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price per
Share

Shares

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price per
Share

$

0.96
1.26
1.55
1.98
3.73
1.61

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term
(Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

(In thousands)

Options outstanding at December 31, 2014
Options vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2014
Options exercisable at December 31, 2014

6,820,892
6,518,107
5,110,550

$
$
$

1.64
1.64
1.61

5.80
5.65
4.81

$
$
$

869
869
857

Stock-Based Compensation
The following table sets forth the total stock-based compensation expense from continuing
operations included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss:
2014

Network operations
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Total

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2013
(In thousands)

202
266
452
1,076
1,996

$

$

332
350
677
1,702
3,061

2012

$

200
257
441
1,448
2,346

$

The following table sets forth the total stock-based compensation expense by award-type:
2014

Stock options
Restricted stock
Employee stock purchase plan
Total

$

$
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Year Ended December 31,
2013
(In thousands)

815
1,105
76
1,996

$

$

838
2,157
66
3,061

$

$

2012

1,122
1,128
96
2,346

Above tables are different from the stock-based compensation expenses disclosed in the
consolidated statements of cash flows, which includes stock-based compensation expenses related to
discontinued operations.
As of December 31, 2014, there was $0.8 million of total unrecognized stock-based
compensation expense related to stock options, net of expected forfeitures that will be recognized over the
weighted average period of 2.5 years. As of December 31, 2014, there was $1.3 million of total unrecognized
compensation cost related to the unvested restricted stock awards granted, net of expected forfeitures which is
expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted average vesting period of 2.4 years.
Valuation Assumptions
The weighted average estimated fair value of stock options granted during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 were calculated under the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, using the
following weighted-average assumptions:
2014

Risk-free rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected volatility
Expected term

Year Ended December 31,
2013

1.07%
—%
53%
3.5 years

0.89%
—%
50%
3.8 years

2012

0.35%
—%
52%
3.1 years

Expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. The
expected term of stock options granted is based on the historical average expected term. The risk-free rate for
periods within the expected term of the stock option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the
time of grant. During the year ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not pay any cash
dividends on its common stock and does not expect to pay cash dividends in the future.
The total grant date fair value of the restricted awards stock granted during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 was approximately $0.6 million, $3.7 million, and $2.3 million,
respectively, which will be recognized over the requisite service periods.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”), the Company can grant stock
purchase rights to all eligible employees during a one-year offering period with purchase dates at the end of
each six-month purchase period (each April and October). As of December 31, 2014, the Company reserved 7.5
million shares of common stock for issuance under the ESPP plan and approximately 4.7 million shares remain
available for future issuance. The ESPP plan permits employees to purchase common stock through payroll
deductions of up to 15% on an employee’s compensation, including commissions, overtime, bonuses and other
incentive compensation. The purchase price per share is equal to the lower of 85% of the fair market value per
share at the beginning of the offering period, or 85% of the fair market value per share on the semi-annual
purchase date. No participant may purchase more than 2,500 shares per offering or $25,000 worth of common
stock in any one calendar year. During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, 118,501, 137,091,
and 186,275 shares were purchased at average per share prices of $1.27, $1.60, and $1.09, respectively.
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Compensation cost related to the Company’s employee stock purchase plan is calculated using
the fair value of the employees’ purchase rights granted. The estimated fair value of employee purchase rights
granted during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 was calculated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:
2014

Risk-free rate
Expected dividend yield
Expected volatility
Expected term

Year Ended December 31,
2013

0.10%
—%
63%
0.5 to 1 year

0.09%
—%
51%
0.5 to 1 year

2012

0.09%
—%
55%
0.5 to 1 year

Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases and Purchase Commitments
The Company leases facilities under operating leases that expire at various dates through October
2020. Certain leases are cancellable prior to lease expiration dates. The terms of certain operating leases provide
for rental payments on a graduated scale. The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the
respective lease periods and has accrued for rent expense incurred but not paid. Future minimum lease
payments under these operating leases, including approximately $0.1 million of future payments on leases
accounted for under the Company’s restructuring plans, as of December 31, 2014, are as follows:
Operating
Leases
(In thousands)

Year ending December 31:
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019 and thereafter

$

$
$

1,806
1,310
1,171
1,050
2,099
7,436

Rent expense for operating leases, excluding leases accounted for under the Company’s
restructuring plan for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 was $2.3 million, $2.3 million, and
$2.4 million, respectively.
The Company has contracts with certain network service providers which have minimum
purchase commitments that expire on various dates through 2017. Future minimum purchase
commitments under all agreements are as follows:
Minimum
Purchase
Commitments
(In thousands)

Year ending December 31:

2015
2016
2017

$
$
$

5,946
659
44
6,649

Included above, the Company has a future minimum purchase commitment of
approximately $0.4 million related to an annual support fee for acquired enterprise infrastructure hardware to be
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paid in the next two years. In addition, the Company expects to pay principal payments related to vendor
financed property and equipment of $0.8 million, and $0.9 million in fiscal year 2015 and fiscal year 2016,
respectively.
Sales Tax Liabilities
The Company’s sales and use tax filings are subject to customary audits by authorities in the
jurisdictions where it conducts business in the United States, which may result in assessments of additional
taxes. During fiscal year 2009, the Company determined that additional sales taxes were probable of being
assessed for multiple states as a result of the preliminary findings specific to a sales and use tax audit that had
been initiated in the same year. As a result, in the third quarter of 2009, the Company estimated an incremental
sales tax liability of approximately $5.0 million, including interest and penalties of approximately $1.5 million.
During subsequent years, this liability was reduced through sales tax payments, settlements with certain state
tax authorities and revised estimates of the sales tax liability to $0.9 million in 2014, $0.8 million in 2013 and
$0.8 million in 2012, which is included in other long-term liabilities.
Legal Proceedings
The Company is involved in legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of
business. While there can be no assurances as to the ultimate outcome of any litigation involving the Company,
management does not believe any such pending legal proceeding or claim will result in a judgment or
settlement that would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations
or cash flows.
In the ordinary course of business, the Company may provide indemnifications of varying scope
and terms to customers, business partners, and other parties with respect to certain matters, including, but not
limited to, losses arising out of the Company’s breach of such agreements, services to be provided by the
Company, or from intellectual property infringement claims made by third-parties. Certain indemnification
agreements may not be subject to maximum loss clauses. If the potential loss from any indemnification claim is
considered probable and the amount or the range of the loss can be estimated, the Company accrues a liability
for the estimated loss. To date, claims under such indemnification provisions have not been significant.
Note 12. Employee 401(k) Plan
The Company sponsors a 401(k) plan covering all employees. Matching contributions to the plan
are at the discretion of the Company. During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, there have
been no employer contributions under this plan.
Note 13. Net Loss Per Common Share
Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss)
per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to shareholders by the weighted average number
of diluted shares outstanding. Unvested participating securities that vest based on service are included in the
weighted daily average number of shares outstanding used in the calculation of basic net income per share and
excluded in the calculation of basic net loss per share.
When an entity has a loss from continuing operations, including potential shares in the
denominator of diluted per-share computations for continuing operations will generally be antidilutive, even if
the entity has net income after adjusting for discontinued operations. That is, including potential shares in the
denominator of the earnings per share calculation for a loss-making entity will generally decrease the loss per
share and, therefore those shares should be excluded from calculations of diluted earnings per share.
Accordingly, for all periods presented, basic weighted-average shares outstanding were used in calculating the
diluted net income (loss) per share.
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The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share:
Year Ended December 31,
2014
2013
2012
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Numerator:
Net loss from continuing operations
Net income from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

$

Denominator:
Weighted average shares outstanding - basic and diluted
Total income (loss) per share - basic and diluted:
Loss from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Total net income (loss) per share

(12,205) $
19,179
6,974

62,613,671

(0.19) $
0.30 $
0.11 $

$
$
$

(14,705) $
2,393
(12,312)

63,411,162

(5,991)
1,613
(4,378)

60,711,317

(0.23) $
0.04 $
(0.19) $

(0.10)
0.03
(0.07)

The following weighted average potential shares of common stock have been excluded from the
computation of diluted net income (loss) per share because the effect of including these shares would have been
anti-dilutive:
2014

Options to purchase common stock
Restricted stock awards, including participating securities
Total

Year Ended December 31,
2013

4,703,978
2,195,750
6,899,728

3,329,281
2,615,705
5,944,986

2012

2,473,024
1,819,261
4,292,285

The weighted-average exercise price of options to purchase common stock excluded from the
computation was $2.20, $2.84, and $3.59, for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.
Note 14. Segment and Geographic Information
Prior to 2014, the Company had two reportable operating segments, Mobility Services and iPass
Unity Network Services (“Unity”). The Mobility Services segment includes services that help enterprises
manage the networks, connections and devices used by their mobile workforce. The iPass Unity segment
provided customers with Wi-Fi and Wide Area Network solutions.
On June 30, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement and completed the sale of its Unity
business segment, which is reported in this filing as discontinued operations. Therefore, the Company currently
has a single reportable operating segment, Mobility Services.
The following table summarizes total Company revenue from continuing operations by country
or by geographical region:
2014

United States
EMEA
Asia Pacific
Rest of the world

For the Year Ended December 31,
2013
2012

35%
48%
15%
2%
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37%
49%
13%
1%

41%
44%
14%
1%

No individual country, except for the United States, Germany, and the United Kingdom,
accounted for 10% or more of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012. Revenues
in Germany accounted for 15%, 11%, and 9% of total revenues in 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.
Revenues in the United Kingdom accounted for 11%, 13%, and 12% of total revenues in 2014, 2013, and 2012,
respectively. One customer accounted for 10% of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2014. No
individual customer accounted for 10% or more of total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2013, and
2012. International revenues are determined by the location of the customer’s headquarters.
Note 15. Divestiture of Business Segment
On June 30, 2014 the Company entered into an agreement and completed the sale of its Unity
business segment for gross cash proceeds of approximately $28.1 million, and accrued approximately $2.2
million of transaction costs which were fully paid as of December 31, 2014. The Company recorded a gain on
sale of approximately $25.0 million. The gross cash proceeds included $1.4 million that was placed into an
escrow account to cover any contingent claims made by the buyer against iPass through June 30, 2015 and is
recorded in Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December
31, 2014, no claims have been made against the escrow account. In accordance with ASC 205-20, the results of
operations for the Unity business segment are reported as discontinued operations. The Company did not have
any assets held for sale as of December 31, 2013 or prior to the sale in the second quarter of 2014.
Concurrent with the sale of its Unity business segment, iPass and the buyer entered into a
transition services agreement pursuant to which each of the parties will provide certain transitional,
administrative, and support services to the other party for a period up to six months, which may be extended
upon mutual agreement. Such services provided to the buyer by iPass were recorded as contra-expense since the
Company was reimbursed for the service cost incurred. Activity associated with transitional service is not
considered significant relative to the consolidated financial statements of the Company and substantially
concluded as of December 31, 2014.
Income tax expense was recorded in discontinued operations for the year ended December 31,
2014, 2013, and 2012 of approximately $7.3 million, $1.4 million, and $0.9 million, respectively. This primarily
reflects tax expense on income or gains from discontinued operations with an offsetting benefit in continuing
operations of $7.1 million, $0.8 million, and $0.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and
2012 respectively. The offsetting tax benefits in 2014 represent the Company’s ability to utilize net operating
losses to offset tax associated with the gain on the sale of the Unity business.
The following table presents the revenues and components of discontinued operations, net of tax.
Six Months
ended June 30,

Year Ended
December 31,

2014

Revenue
Income from discontinued operations before income taxes
Gain on sale of discontinued operations before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

2013

15,458
1,506
25,014
(7,341)
$

19,179

2012

33,386
3,744
—
(1,351)
$

2,393

33,548
2,524
—
(911)
$

1,613

The table above excludes certain shared overhead costs and transfer pricing adjustments that
were previously allocated to the Unity business segment in the historical iPass consolidated financial statements
that were filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") as ASC 205-20 prohibits the allocation
of general overhead costs to the discontinued operation. The provisions for income taxes primarily reflect tax
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expense on discontinued operations including the gain on sale, which is mostly offset by benefit in continuing
operations.
Note 16. Subsequent Event
On February 16, 2015, it was determined that Evan Kaplan, Chief Executive Officer and
President of iPass Inc., would cease to be an officer and employee of iPass effective at a date in early March
2015, immediately following the filing of the iPass Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2014.
On February 16, 2015, the Board of Directors of iPass appointed Gary Griffiths as Chief
Executive Officer and President of iPass Inc., effective at such time as Mr. Kaplan ceases to operate in that role.
On February 22, 2015, the Board of Directors appointed Michael Chang as a director of iPass, to
serve in such capacity until the next annual meeting or until his earlier death, resignation or removal. In
connection with his appointment, Mr. Chang was appointed to the Audit Committee and the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors, replacing Gary Griffiths on those committees.
On February 18, 2015, the Company announced it had concluded the strategic alternatives review
process that was initiated in September of 2014.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

iPass Inc.
By:

/S/

EVAN L. KAPLAN

Evan L. Kaplan
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 13, 2015
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POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints Gary A. Griffiths and Karen J. Willem, and each or any one of them, his or her true and
lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her and in his or
her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Report, and to file
the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and
authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection
therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their or his or her substitutes or
substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

/S/ EVAN L. KAPLAN
Evan L. Kaplan

/S/

KAREN J. WILLEM
Karen J. Willem

/S/

DARIN R. VICKERY
Darin R. Vickery

/S/

JOHN D. BELETIC

Title

Date

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

March 13, 2015

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

March 13, 2015

Vice President and Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 13, 2015

Chairman and Director

March 13, 2015

Director

March 13, 2015

Director

March 13, 2015

Director

March 13, 2015

Director

March 13, 2015

John D. Beletic

/S/

MICHAEL M. CHANG
Michael M. Chang

/S/ GARY A. GRIFFITHS
Gary A. Griffiths

/S/

ROBERT J. MAJTELES
Robert J. Majteles

/S/

MICHAEL J. TEDESCO
Michael J. Tedesco
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SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Balance at
Beginning
of Year

Classification

Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Year ended December 31
2014
2013
2012

Additions
Charged
to
(recovered
from)
Costs
and
Deductions
Expenses
(In thousands)

$

1,010
1,173
1,605
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$

(169) $
134
(66)

669
297
366

Balance at
End of
Year

$

172
1,010
1,173
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